City Of TUkWila Allan Ekberg, Mayor

Department of Community Development - Nora Gierloff, AICP, Director

CHAIR LOUSIE STRANDER; VICE-CHAIR KAREN SIMMONS;
COMMISSIONERS DENNIS MARTINEZ, SHARON MANN, DIXIE STARK,
ANDREA REAY AND APNEET SIDHU

CITY OF TUKWILA
PLANNING COMMISSION (PC)
PUBLIC HEARING AGENDA
VIRTUAL MEETING VIA MICROSOFT
TEAMS
AUGUST 26, 2021 - 6:30 PM

To Participate in the Virtual Meeting at 6:30 pm:
By Phone:  Dial +1253-292-9750,552049734# Access Code 552 049 734#
Online: To join the meeting online click here Click here to join the meeting

FOR TECHNICAL SUPPORT DURING THE MEETING YOU MAY CALL 1-206-433-7155.

CALL TO ORDER
ATTENDANCE
ADOPT 7/22/21 MINUTES

CASE NUMBERS: L21-0096 Zoning Code Amendment
E21-0009 SEPA Checklist

PURPOSE: Consider amendments to Tukwila’s Zoning Code to bring it into
alignment with recent FCC regulations for small wireless communication
facilities. These regulations include the presumptively reasonable review
timelines, fee thresholds, and design and aesthetic requirements. The
Planning Commission will hold a public hearing on the proposed
amendments and make recommendations to the City Council for review
and adoption.

LOCATION: Citywide

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
ADJOURN


https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_ODgxNjE2OWUtZGU1Mi00NDNmLWI4ZmMtNDZmYWYwY2Q3ZWVk%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%226ea0f6bd-e8b7-4388-a3ba-ca42e373cec2%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22850d47eb-2d76-4b97-b4c7-de9f336f7bcd%22%7d




City Of TUkWila Allan Ekberg, Mayor

Department of Community Development - Jack Pace, Director

CITY OF TUKWILA
PLANNING COMMISSION
PUBLIC HEARING MINUTES

Date: July 22, 2021

Time: 6:30 PM

Location: Virtual meeting via Microsoft Teams

Present: Chair Louise Strander; Vice Chair Karen Simmons; Commissioners Dennis Martinez, Sharon

Mann, Dixie Stark, Andrea Reay and Apneet Sidhu

Staff: Nora Gierloff, Department of Community Development (DCD), Director: and Planning
Commission (PC) Secretary Wynetta Bivens

Protocols: Nora Gierloff, DCD Director, went over the virtual meeting protocols.

Adopt

Minutes: Commissioner Mann raised some concerns regarding the accuracy of the 6/24/21 PC minutes

and asked staff to review the PC recording to verify accuracy.

Commissioner Mann moved to table adoption of the minutes until the next meeting to ensure
accuracy. Commissioner Martinez seconded the motion. Motion passed.

The Planning Commission Secretary later reviewed the 6/24/21 recording and confirmed based
on the findings, the minutes that were submitted in the 7/22/21 PC packet were accurate.
Verbatim minutes of the findings for the section of the minutes in question were emailed to the
PC on 7/23/21.

Chair Strander opened the public hearing for:

CASE NUMBERS: E21-0003; L21-0092

PURPOSE: Consider Tukwila Zoning Code changes to respond to new requirements in State
law regarding permitted locations for emergency shelters, transitional housing, and
permanent supportive housing.

LOCATION: Citywide

Chair Strander swore in persons wishing to speak.

Nora Gierloff, DCD Director, gave the presentation. She said that HB1220 is a new State law that will go into
effect 9/30/21. There are different sections in the ordinance, but the current focus for PC review is on housing
and homeless/supportive shelters, which are mandatory and apply to all cities and counties. The first section of
this bill will add some additional analysis around affordable housing needs assessments and displacement, etc.,
which was recently addressed in the Housing Action Plan. The Zoning Code is being updated to reflect the
changes that have been made. In 2022 there will also be a focus to add some new requirements to the
Comprehensive Plan Update, which must be completed by 2024. In addition, there is a section for updates to the
Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) regulation, which is not mandated. However, the suggestions from the State
will be reviewed in the future when DCD staffing levels are more robust. Review of the ADUs had begun in
2020 but had to be tabled due to the pandemic.

Tukwila City Hall « 6200 Southcenter Boulevard « Tukwila, WA 98188 « 206-433-1800 - Website: TukwilaWA.gov
1



PC Public Hearing
7122/21
Page 2

Director Gierloff noted that emergency shelters and housing must be permitted where hotels are permitted, in
regional commercial, various industrial, and Tukwila South Districts. Also, transitional/supportive housing must
be permitted where hotels or housing is permitted. All zoning is encompassed citywide. These mandatory
changes for housing facilities are needed, and the goal is to proportionally distribute them across the State. There
are different kinds of shelters and supportive housing, but Tukwila currently allows for one type, which is for
domestic violence survivors. There are a few currently in Tukwila, which are single family homes or duplexes.
These few will be exempt from the new standards proposed in the ordinance, because the needs are different than
those of larger facilities.

Although the facilities are mandated, each city has control over operational criteria, to ensure increased success
of the facilities, and over location, so as to prevent excessive facilities, while accommodating an equitable share
of facilities.

A walkthrough was provided of staff’s proposed changes and criteria to the ordinance. Also, next steps were
provided.

PUBLIC TESTIMONY
There were no public comments.
Director Gierloff and the City Attorney addressed several clarifying questions for the PC.

Commissioner Strander closed the public hearing.

DELIBERATIONS

There was extensive discussion on several issues. Following are some of the noted questions and concerns.

- Isit the ultimate goal to not have single-family zoning in Tukwila?

- Will the State provide funding so cities will have the capacity to accommodate mandates?

- Non-Tukwila residents should not be allowed to seek shelter at Tukwila facilities.

- What are the implications if the State’s 9/30/21 deadline is not met?

- Will walkability be determined for facilities located within a half-mile of transits?

- Concern was expressed regarding property values of homeowners adjacent to the facilities being
impacted.

- Will the current shelters in the community be permitted to count toward the mandates?

- Clarification was requested on why ADU’s will be addressed at a later time.

- Is there any way to separate residents within the shelters?

There was a walk-through of the proposed Ordinance Language.
PC recommended revised language to the Ordinance Language (see motions below)

MOTIONS:

Commissioner Mann moved to amend language for 18.06.XXX Transitional Housing, to read;
"Transitional housing™ means a facility that provides housing, case management, and supportive
services to homeless persons or families and that has as its purpose facilitating the movement of
homeless persons and families into independent living.” Commissioner Martinez seconded the motion.
Motion passed.

Phone: 206-433-1800 ¢ Email: Mayor@TukwilaWA.gov ¢ Website: TukwilaWA.gov



PC Public Hearing
7122/21
Page 3

Commissioner Mann moved to amend the language for 18.50.250 Emergency Housing and
Emergency Shelter Criteria; #5 to read; “The maximum number of residents in a facility is limited to
the general capacity of the building but in no case more than 45.” Commissioner Stark seconded the
motion. Commissioner Sidhu opposed. Motion passed.

Commissioner Mann moved to amend added criteria #6 for 18.50.250 Emergency Housing and
Emergency Shelter Criteria; to read; “Buildings must have secure entrances staffed 24/7 with individual
units only accessible through interior corridors.” Commissioner Martinez seconded the motion.
Commissioner Simmons opposed. Motion passed.

Commissioner Mann Moved to amend 18.50.260 Permanent Supportive Housing and Transitional
Housing Criteria #4; to read; “The maximum number of residents in a facility is limited to the general
capacity of the building but in no case more than 15 in LDR, 30 in MDR and 45 in HDR or other
zones.” Commissioner Martinez seconded the motion. Motion passed.

Commissioner Mann Moved to amend added criteria #5 t018.50.260 Permanent Supportive Housing
and Transitional_Housing Criteria; to read; “Buildings must have secure entrances staffed 24/7 with
individual units only accessible through interior corridors.” Commissioner Martinez seconded the
motion. Commissioner Simmons opposed. Motion passed.

Commissioner Mann moved to amend language to 18.50.270 Emergency Housing, Emergency
Shelter, Permanent Supportive Housing or Transitional Housing Memorandum of Agreement, Criteria
#4; to read: “A coordination plan with both the Police and Fire Departments, including protocols for response to
the facility and to facility residents throughout the City and a maximum number of responses threshold for law
enforcement services as established by calls for services in TMC 5.60.040-060. If calls for law enforcement
services exceed the agreed upon threshold in any given quarter, the facility operator will work with the City to
reduce calls below the threshold level.” Commissioner Stark seconded the motion. Motion passed.

Commissioner Mann moved to forward Case Number L21-0092 as amended to City Council for their
review. Commissioner Martinez seconded the motion. Motion passed.

DIRECTOR’S REPORT
- In August the Small Cell Ordinance will go to PC for review.
- Commissioner Martinez and Commissioner Sidhu expressed their interest in staff receiving
help handling their workload due to the staffing shortage.

Adjourned: 10:15 p.m.

Submitted by: Wynetta Bivens
Planning Commission Secretary

Phone: 206-433-1800 ¢ Email: Mayor@TukwilaWA.gov ¢ Website: TukwilaWA.gov






'| City Of TUkWila Allan Ekberg, Mayor

¢y Department of Community Development - Nora Gierloff, AICP, Director

STAFF REPORT TO THE PLANNING COMMISSION
Prepared August 12, 2021

FILE NUMBERS: L21-0096 Zoning Code Amendment
E21-0009 SEPA Checklist

REQUEST: Consider amendments to Tukwila’s Zoning Code to bring it into alignment with
recent FCC regulations for wireless communication facilities. The Planning
Commission will hold a public hearing on the proposed amendments and make
recommendations to the City Council for review and adoption.

PUBLIC HEARING: August 26, 2021
LOCATION: Citywide
STAFF: Nora Gierloff, DCD Director

Emily Miner, Assistant City Attorney

ATTACHMENTS:
A. Proposed Ordinance Language Clean
B. Proposed Ordinance Language Redline
C. Table Summary of Industry Comments

BACKGROUND

Wireless communication technology has pivoted from large cell towers that were designed to transmit
frequencies over long distance to small wireless facilities (4G and 5G networks) that are designed to increase
capacity. These installations are significantly smaller than the existing macro installations and are/will be located
closer to the end user. This means that small wireless installations will be focused on the rights-of-way and
adjacent areas.

The Federal Communications Commission (“FCC”) has adopted new regulations regarding local municipalities’
authority to regulate the deployment of small wireless communications facilities. In order to account for those
changes in Federal law, the City needs to update its municipal code.

Tukwila adopted an interim code to address wireless facilities under Ordinance No. 2652 on April 12, 2021.
Those temporary regulations will expire October 12, 2021. Staff has now drafted a permanent set of regulations
and has circulated those regulations for industry review, as well as GMA/SEPA review. While no comments were
received from the GMA or SEPA process, industry comments were received and some of the comments have
been incorporated into the draft code. A table summary of all comments received has been included as
Attachment C.

Tukwila City Hall « 6200 Southcenter Boulevard « Tukwila, WA 98188 « 206-433-1800 - Website: TukwilaWA.gov
5



PC Staff Report 8-12-21
Page 2

There are a few important concepts that the Commission should keep in mind that will come into play
during these discussions.

- The City has some authority to outline aesthetic standards for the rollout of small wireless facilities, but
the City does not have authority to dictate technology. Any standard being considered that would
regulate the technology should be avoided.

- Regulations that effectively prohibit the rollout of the technology should not be considered. The FCC
has generally determined that this technology should be allowed, and regulations adopted by a local
jurisdiction that effectively prohibit the technology are impermissible.

- The FCC has adopted presumptively reasonable shot clocks within which the City must comply. These
shot clocks are 60 days for an installation on an existing structure and 90 days for new poles. These
shot clocks cover all necessary city approvals, which may include a franchise (these already require two
readings before City Council), small wireless permits, public works related permits, and anything else that
might be required by the City.

- The City should treat all similarly situated applicants the same. This is called competitive equity.
Regulations and approvals should not vary depending on who comes in the door.

DISCUSSION

The proposed ordinance includes an overhaul of the existing code in order to incorporate the new FCC
requirements. It also includes revisions to the macro facility permitting and design requirements, as well as
establishes a permitting process and aesthetic requirements for small wireless facilities. These changes will
improve staff efficiency by providing a well-defined framework for staff to review permits and clear expectations
for applicants regarding where and how they can locate their facilities.

Our discussion will focus on the macro facility provisions in TMC 18.58.060-070 as well as the small wireless
facility provisions in TMC 18.58.100-160. We will discuss how the code will be used, what the requirements
mean, and how these requirements will protect the City within the scope of the FCC rules.

REQUESTED ACTION

Hold the public hearing on the proposed code amendments, review the amendments, and forward the
ordinance language as proposed or amended to the City Council.

Phone: 206-433-1800 ¢ Email: Mayor@TukwilaWA.gov ¢ Website: TukwilaWA.gov



Sections:

18.58.010
18.58.020
18.58.030
18.58.040
18.58.050
18.58.060
18.58.070
18.58.080
18.58.090
18.58.100
18.58.110
18.58.120
18.58.130
18.58.140
18.58.150
18.58.160

WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES

Purpose

Chapter 18.58

Authority and Application

Exemptions

Definitions

General Provisions
Macro Facilities
New Towers

Removal of Abandoned Wireless Communication Facilities.
Eligible Facilities Requests

Small wireless facility application process

Small wireless facility application requirements
Small wireless facility review criteria and process
Small wireless facility permit requirements

Small wireless facility modification

Decorative poles

Small wireless facility aesthetic, concealment, and design standards

18.58.010 Purpose.

A. The purpose of this Chapter , in addition to implementing the general purposes of the
Comprehensive Plan and development regulations, is to regulate the permitting, placement,
construction, and modification of wireless communication facilities, in order to protect the
health, safety and welfare of the public, while not unreasonably interfering with the
development of the competitive wireless telecommunications marketplace in the City. The
purpose of this Chapter will be achieved through adherence to the following objectives:

1. Establish clear
telecommunications providers and services that are consistent with Federal and State

laws and regulations pertaining to telecommunications providers;

nondiscriminatory

regulations

concerning

2. Protect residential areas and land uses from potential adverse impacts that wireless
communication facilities might create, including but not limited to impacts on

aesthetics, environmentally sensitive areas, historically significant locations, and flight
corridors;

3. Minimize potential adverse visual, aesthetic, and safety impacts of wireless

communication facilities;

4. Establish objective standards for the placement of wireless communications

facilities;

City of Tukwila

Wireless Code Update

Page 1 of 34

ATTACHMENT A

7


wynetta
Text Box
ATTACHMENT A


5. Ensure that such standards allow competition and do not unreasonably discriminate
among providers of functionally equivalent services;

6. Encourage the location or attachment of multiple facilities within or on existing
structures to help minimize the total number and impact of such facilities throughout
the community;

7. Require cooperation between competitors and, as a primary option, joint use of new
and existing towers, tower sites and suitable structures to the greatest extent possible,
in order to reduce cumulative negative impact upon the City;

8. Encourage wireless communication facilities to be configured in a way that
minimizes the adverse visual impact of the wireless communication facilities, as viewed
from different vantage points, through careful design, landscape screening, minimal
impact siting options and camouflaging techniques, and through assessment of the
carrier’s service objective, current location options, siting, future available locations,
and innovative siting techniques;

9. Enhance the ability of the wireless communications facility providers to provide such
services to the community quickly, effectively and efficiently;

10. Provide for the removal of wireless communication facilities that are abandoned or
no longer inspected for safety concerns and Building Code compliance, and provide a
mechanism for the City to cause these abandoned wireless communication facilities to
be removed, to protect the citizens from imminent harm and danger;

B. In furtherance of these objectives, the City shall give due consideration to the
Comprehensive Land Use Plan, zoning code, existing land uses, and environmentally
sensitive areas in approving sites for the location of communication towers and antennas.

C. These objectives were developed to protect the public health, safety and welfare, to
protect property values, and to minimize visual impact, while furthering the development of
enhanced telecommunication services in the City. The provisions of this Chapter are not
intended to and shall not be interpreted to prohibit or to have the effect of prohibiting
personal wireless services. This Chapter shall not be applied in such a manner as to
unreasonably discriminate between providers of functionally equivalent personal wireless
services or to prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting wireless service within the City.

D. To the extent that any provision of this Chapter is inconsistent or conflicts with any other
City ordinance, this Chapter shall control. Otherwise, this Chapter shall be construed
consistently with the other provisions and regulations of the City.

18.58.020 Authority and Application.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 2 of 34

8



The provisions of this Chapter shall apply to the placement, construction or modification of
all wireless communication facilities, except as specifically exempted in TMC Section
18.58.030. Any person who desires to locate a wireless communications facility inside or
outside the right-of-way, which is not specifically exempted by TMC Section 18.58.030,
shall comply with the applicable application permitting requirements, and design and
aesthetic regulations described in this Chapter. In addition, applicants for wireless
communication facilities inside the City’s right-of-way must also obtain a franchise pursuant
to TMC Chapter 11.32.

18.58.030 Exemptions.
A. The provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to the following:

1. Routine maintenance and repair of wireless communication facilities (excluding
structural work or changes in height or dimensions of support structures or buildings);
provided, that the wireless communications facilities received approval from the City for the
original placement and construction and provided further that compliance with the
standards of this code is maintained and right-of-use permit obtained if the wireless
communication facility is located in the right-of-way.

2. Changing or adding additional antennas within a previously permitted concealed
building-mounted installation is exempt provided there is no visible change from the
outside.

3. Bird exclusionary devices.

4. Additional ground equipment placed within an approved equipment enclosure,
provided the height of the equipment does not extend above the screening fence.

5. An antenna that is designed to receive or send direct broadcast satellite service
and/or broadband signals, or other means for providing internet service including direct-to-
home satellite services, and that is 1 meter or less in diameter or diagonal measurement,
and when the antenna is attached to the residence or business that is utilizing the service.

6. An antenna that is designed to receive video programming services via multipoint
distribution services, including multi-channel multipoint distribution services, instructional
television fixed services, and local multipoint distribution services, and that is 1 meter or
less in diameter or diagonal measurement.

7. An antenna that is designed to receive television broadcast signals.

8. Antennas for the receiving and sending of amateur radio devices or HAM radios,
provided that the antennas meet the height requirements of the applicable zoning district,
and are owned and operated by a Federally-licensed amateur radio station operator or are

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 3 of 34



used exclusively for receive-only antennas and provided further that compliance with the
standards of this code is maintained.

9. Emergency communications equipment during a declared public emergency, when
the equipment is owned and operated by an appropriate public entity.

10. Any wireless communications facility that is owned and operated by a government
entity, for public safety radio systems, ham radio and business radio systems.

11. Antennas and related equipment no more than 3 feet in height that are being stored
or displayed for sale.

12. Radar systems for military and civilian communication and navigation.

13. Automated meter reading (“AMR”) facilities for collecting utility meter data for use in
the sale of utility services, except for WIP and other antennas greater than two feet in
length, so long as the AMR facilities are within the scope of activities permitted under a
valid franchise agreement between the utility service provider and the City.

14. Eligible facilities requests. See TMC Section 18.58.090.
18.58.040 Definitions

For the purposes of this Chapter, the following terms shall have the meaning ascribed to
them below.

1. “Antenna(s)” in the context of small wireless facilities and consistent with 47
CFR 1.1320(w) and 1.6002(b) means an apparatus designed for the purpose of emitting
radiofrequency (“RF”) radiation, to be operated or operating from a fixed location pursuant
to FCC authorization, for the provision of personal wireless and any commingled
information services. For the purposes of this definition, the term “antenna” does not
include an unintentional radiator, mobile station, or device authorized by 47 CFR Title 15.

2. ‘“Antennaequipment,” consistent with 47 CFR 1.1320(d), means equipment,
switches, wiring, cabling, power sources, shelters, or cabinets associated with an antenna,
located at the same fixed location as the antenna, and when collocated on a structure, are
mounted or installed at the same time as the antenna.

3. “Applicant” means any person submitting an application for a wireless
communication facility permit pursuant to this Chapter.
4. *“Colocation” means:
a. Mounting or installing an antenna facility on a preexisting structure;
and/or

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 4 of 34

10



b. Modifying a structure for the purpose of mounting or installing an antenna
facility on that structure.

5. “Director” means the Department of Community Development Director or
designee.

6. “Equipment enclosure” means a facility, shelter, cabinet, or vault used to
house and protect electronic or other associated equipment necessary for processing
wireless communication signals. “Associated equipment” may include, for example, air
conditioning, backup power supplies, and emergency generators.

7. “FCC” or “Federal Communications Commission” means the federal
administrative agency, or lawful successor, authorized to regulate and oversee
telecommunications carriers, services and providers on a national level.

8. “Macro Facility” means a large wireless communication facility that provides
radio frequency coverage for wireless services. Generally, macro facility antennas are
mounted on ground-based towers, rooftops and other existing structures, at a height that
provides a clear view over the surrounding buildings and terrain. Macro WCF typically
contain antennas that are greater than three cubic feet per antenna and typically cover
large geographic areas with relatively high capacity and may be capable of hosting multiple
wireless service providers. Macro facilities include but are not limited to monopoles, lattice
towers, macro cells, roof-mounted and panel antennas, and other similar facilities.

9. “Permittee” means a person who has applied for and received a wireless
communication facility permit pursuant to this Chapter.

9. “Personal wireless services” means commercial mobile services,
unlicensed wireless services, and common carrier wireless exchange access services.

10. “Person” includes corporations, companies, associations, joint stock
companies, firms, partnerships, limited liability companies, other entities, and individuals.

11. “Public right-of-way” or “right-of-way” means land acquired or dedicated
for public roads and streets but does not include:

a. Land dedicated for road, streets, and highways not opened and not
improved for motor vehicle use by the public;

b. Structures, including poles and conduits, located within the right-of-way;
c. Federally granted trust lands or forest board trust lands;

d. Lands owned or managed by the state parks and recreation commission;
or

e. Federally granted railroad rights-of-way acquired under 43 U.S.C. 912 and
related provisions of federal law that are not open for motor vehicle use.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 5 of 34

11



12. “Service provider” shall be defined in accord with RCW 35.99.010(6).
“Service provider’ shall include those infrastructure companies that provide
telecommunications services or equipment to enable the construction of wireless
communication facilities.

13. “Small wireless facility” shall be defined as provided in 47 CFR 1.6002(l).

14. “Stealth Technique” means stealth techniques specifically designated as
such at the time of the original approval of the wireless communication facility for the
purposes of rendering the appearance of the wireless communication facility as something
fundamentally different than a wireless communication facility including but not limited to
the use of nonreflective materials, appropriate colors, and/or a concealment canister.

15. “Structure” means a pole, tower, base station, or other building, whether or
not it has an existing antenna equipment, that is used or to be used for the provision of
personal wireless service (on its own or commingled with other types of services).

16. “Telecommunications service” shall be defined in accord with RCW
35.99.010(7).

17. “Tower” means any structure built for the sole or primary purpose of
supporting any FCC-licensed or authorized antennas and their associated facilities,
including structures that are constructed for wireless communication services including, but
not limited to, private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as unlicensed wireless
services, and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul and the associated site.

18. “Traffic signal pole” means any structure designed and used primarily for
support of traffic signal displays and equipment, whether for vehicular or nonmotorized
users.

19. “Transmission equipment” means equipment that facilitates transmission for
any FCC-licensed or authorized wireless communication service, including, but not limited
to, radio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or fiber-optic cable, and regular and backup power
supply. The term includes equipment associated with wireless communication services
including, but not limited to, private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as
unlicensed wireless services and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul.

20. “Unified enclosure” means a small wireless facility providing concealment of
antennas and equipment within a single enclosure.

21. “Utility pole” means a structure designed and used primarily for the support
of electrical wires, telephone wires, television cable, or lighting for streets, parking lots, or
pedestrian paths.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 6 of 34

12



22. “Wireless communications facilities” or “WCF” means facilities used for
personal wireless services.

23. “Wireline” means services provided using a physically tangible means of
transmission including, without limitation, wire or cable, and the apparatus used for such
transmission.

18.58.050 General provisions.

A. No person may place, construct or modify a wireless communication facility subject to
this Chapter without first having in place a permit issued in accordance with this Chapter.
Except as otherwise provided herein, the requirements of TMC Chapter 18.100, 18.104 and
18.108 do not apply to this TMC Chapter 18.58.

B. Macro facilities, as defined in TMC 18.58.040, are allowed in zones consistent with
TMC 18.58.060(F) and require a macro facility permit pursuant to TMC 18.58.020.

C. Small wireless facilities, as defined in TMC 18.58.040 are permitted uses throughout
the city but still require a small wireless facility permit pursuant to TMC 18.58.020.Small
wireless facilities located within the City’s rights-of-way require a valid franchise.

D. No provision of this Chapter shall be interpreted to allow the installation of a wireless
communication facility to reduce the minimum parking or landscaping on a site.

E. Applicants use various methodologies and analyses, including geographically-based
computer software, to determine the specific technical parameters of the services to be
provided utilizing the proposed wireless communication facilities, such as expected
coverage area, antenna configuration, capacity, and topographic constraints that affect
signal paths. In certain instances, a third party expert may be needed to review the
engineering and technical data submitted by an applicant for a permit. The City may at its
discretion require an engineering and technical review as part of a permitting process. The
reasonable costs actually incurred by the City for such technical review shall be borne by
the applicant, provided that the City provides to the applicant an itemized accounting of the
costs actually charged by said third party reviewer and incurred by the City.

F. Appeals. Appeals related to wireless communication facilities shall be filed in King
County superior court or in a court of competent jurisdiction.

H. Permit Revocation — Suspension — Denial. A permit issued under this Chapter may be
revoked, suspended or denied for any one or more of the following reasons:

1. Failure to comply with any federal, state, or local laws or regulations.

2. Failure to comply with the terms and conditions imposed by the City on
the issuance of a permit.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 7 of 34

13



3. When the permit was procured by fraud, false representation, or omission
of material facts.

4. Failure to comply with federal standards for RF emissions.

18.58.060 Macro facilities.

In order to manage the City in a thoughtful manner which balances the need to
accommodate new and evolving technologies with the preservation of the natural and
aesthetic environment of the City, the City of Tukwila has adopted this administrative
process for the deployment of macro facilities. Applicants are encouraged and
expected to provide all related applications listed in TMC 18.58.060(A) below for each
facility in one submittal unless they have already obtained a franchise or lease.

A. Required applications. The Director is authorized to establish application forms to
gather the information required by City ordinances from applicants.

1.

3.

Franchise. If any portion of the applicant’s facilities are to be located in the right-
of-way, the applicant shall apply for, and receive, a franchise consistent with
TMC 11.32. An applicant with a franchise for the deployment of macro facilities in
the City may apply directly for a macro facility permit and related approvals.

Macro Facility Permits. The applicant shall submit a macro facility permit
application as required by TMC 18.58.020. Prior to the issuance of a macro
facility permit, the applicant shall pay a permit fee in an amount as determined
by the City Council and adopted by resolution, or the actual costs incurred by the
City in reviewing such permit application.

Associated Permit(s) and Checklist(s). The applicant shall attach all associated
required permit applications including but not limited to applications required
under TMC 11.08, and applications or check lists required under the City’s
Critical Areas, Shoreline or SEPA ordinances.

Leases. An applicant who desires to place a macro facility on City property
outside the right-of-way or attach a macro facility to any structure owned by the
City shall include an application for a lease as a component of its application.
Leases for the use of public property, structures, or facilities shall be submitted to
the City Council for approval.

B. Macro facility application requirements.

City of Tukwila

1. A pre-application meeting is encouraged prior to submitting an application for a
macro facility permit.

2. The following information shall be provided by all applicants for a macro facility
permit:

Wireless Code Update

Page 8 of 34

14



a. The name, address, phone number and authorized signature on behalf of the
applicant;

b. If the proposed site is not owned by the City, the name, address and phone
number of the owner and a signed document or lease confirming that the
applicant has the owner’s permission to apply for permits to construct the macro
facility;

c. A statement identifying the nature and operation of the macro facility;

d. Avicinity sketch showing the relationship of the proposed use to existing streets,
structures and surrounding land uses, and the location of any nearby bodies of
water, wetlands, critical areas or other significant natural or manmade features;

e. Construction drawings as well as a plan of the proposed use showing proposed
streets, structures, land uses, open spaces, parking areas, fencing, pedestrian
paths and trails, buffers, and landscaping, along with text identifying the
proposed use(s) of each structure or area included on the plan;

f. Photo simulations of the proposed macro facility from public rights-of-way, public
properties and affected residentially zoned properties. Photo simulations must
include all cable, conduit and/or ground-mounted equipment necessary for and
intended for use in the deployment regardless of whether the additional facilities
are to be constructed by a third party;

g. A sworn affidavit signed by an RF engineer with knowledge of the proposed
project affirming that the macro facility will be compliant with all FCC and other
governmental regulations in connection with human exposure to radio frequency
emissions for every frequency at which the facility will operate. If facilities that
generate RF radiation necessary to the macro facility are to be provided by a
third party, then the permit shall be conditioned on an RF certification showing
the cumulative impact of the RF emissions on the entire installation;

h. Information necessary to demonstrate the applicant’s compliance with FCC
rules, regulations and requirements which are applicable to the proposed macro
facility;

i. If not proposing a collocation, then documentation showing that the applicant has
made a reasonable attempt to find a collocation site acceptable to engineering
standards and that co-locating was not technically feasible or that it posed a
physical problem;

j- Information sufficient to establish compliance with TMC 18.58.060(F) and TMC
18.58.060(G).

k. If proposing a new monopole/tower, information sufficient to establish
compliance with TMC 18.58.070(B).

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 9 of 34

15



I.  Such additional information as deemed necessary by the Director for proper
review of the application, and which is sufficient to enable the Director to make a
fully informed decision pursuant to the requirements of this Chapter.

C. Macro facility permit review procedures.

1.

Completeness. An application for a macro facility is not complete until the applicant
has submitted all the applicable items required by TMC Section 18.58.060(B) and to
the extent relevant, has submitted all the applicable items in TMC Section
18.58.060(A) and the city has confirmed that the application is complete.

Public Notice. The City shall provide notice of a complete application for a macro
facility permit on the City’s website with a link to the application. Prior to
construction, the applicant shall provide notice of construction to all impacted
property owners within 100 feet of any proposed wireless facility via a doorhanger
that shall include an email contact and telephone number for the applicant. Notice is
for the public’s information and is not a part of a hearing or part of the land use
appeal process.

Review. The Director shall review the application for conformance with the
application requirements in this Chapter and specifically the review criteria in TMC
18.58.060(D) to determine whether the application is consistent with this Chapter.

Decision. The Director will issue a decision in writing. The Director may grant a
permit, grant the permit with conditions pursuant to this chapter and the code, or
deny the permit.

a. Any condition reasonably required to enable the proposed use to meet the
standards of this chapter and code may be imposed.

b. If no reasonable condition(s) can be imposed that ensure the application meets
such requirements, the application shall be denied.

c. The Director’s decision is final.

D. Macro facility review criteria.

. No application for a macro facility may be approved unless all of the following

criteria, as applicable, are satisfied:

a. The proposed use will be served by adequate public facilities including roads,
and fire protection.

b. The proposed use will not be materially detrimental to uses or property in the
immediate vicinity of the subject property and will not materially disturb persons
in the use and enjoyment of their property.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 10 of 34

16



2.

c. The proposed use will not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety
and welfare.

d. The proposed use complies with this Chapter and all other applicable provisions
of this code.

The Director shall review the application for conformance with the following

criteria:

a. Compliance with prioritized locations pursuant to TMC 18.58.060(F).

b. Compliance with development standards pursuant to TMC 18.58.060(G).

E. Macro facility permit requirements.

1.

The permittee shall comply with all of the requirements within the macro facility
permit.

The permittee shall allow collocation of proposed macro facilities on the permittees’
site, unless the permittee demonstrates that collocation will impair the technical
operation of the existing macro facilities to a substantial degree.

The permittee shall notify the City of any sale, transfer, assignment of a macro
facility within sixty (60) days of such event.

All installations of macro facilities shall comply with any governing construction or
electrical code including the National Electrical Safety Code, the National Electric
Code or state electrical code, as applicable.

A macro facility permit issued under this chapter must be substantially implemented
within 42 24 months from the date of final approval or the permit shall expire. The
permittee may request one (1) extension to be limited to twelve (12) months, if the
applicant cannot construct the macro facility within the original 42 24-month period.

Site safety and maintenance. The permittee shall maintain the macro facilities in
safe and working condition. The permittee shall be responsible for the removal of
any graffiti or other vandalism and shall keep the site neat and orderly, including but
not limited to following any maintenance or modifications on the site.

F. Macro facility location hierarchy. Macro facilities shall be located in the following
prioritized order of preference:

1.

Collocated on existing macro facility(ies) or another existing public facility/utility

facility (i.e., existing or replacement utility pole or an existing monopole/tower).

2. Collocated on existing buildings and structures located in nonresidential zones.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 11 of 34

17



G.

3. Collocated on existing building and structures in residential zones not used for
single-family residential uses (e.g. religious facility or public facility, or multifamily
building).

4. New monopole/tower proposed in an industrial, commercial, or business zone
district, where the sole purpose is for wireless communication facilities; provided that
approval for new monopole/tower is given pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.070. Said
monopole/tower shall be the minimum height necessary to serve the target area butin
no event may it exceed the height requirements of the underlying zoning district by
more than ten (10) feet; however, the monopole/tower shall be designed to allow
extensions to accommodate the future collocation of additional antennas and support
equipment. Further, the monopole/tower shall comply with the setback requirements of
the commercial or business zone districts, as applicable. In no case shall the
monopole/tower be of a height that requires illumination by the Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA).

5. New monopole/tower proposed in a residential zone district, where the sole
purpose is for wireless communications, but only if the applicant can establish that the
monopole/tower cannot be collocated on an existing facility or structure and receives
approval pursuant to TMC 18.58.070. Further, the proposed monopole/tower shall be
no higher than the minimum height necessary to serve the target area but in no event
may it exceed the height requirements of the underlying zoning district by more than
ten (10) feet; however, the structure shall be designed to allow extensions to
accommodate the future collocation of additional antennas and support equipment. In
no case shall the antenna be of a height that requires illumination by the FAA.

Macro facility design and concealment standards. All macro facilities shall be

constructed or installed according to the following standards:

1. Macro facilities must comply with applicable FCC, Federal Aviation Administration
(FAA), state, and city regulations and standards.

2. Antennas shall be located, mounted and designed so that visual and aesthetic
impacts upon surrounding land uses and structures are minimized, and so that they
blend into the existing environment.

3. Macro facilities must be screened or camouflaged employing the best available
techniques, such as compatible materials, non-glare paint, location, color, artificial
trees and hollow flagpoles, and other tactics to minimize visibility of the facility from
public streets and residential properties.

a. Macro facilities shall be designed and placed or installed on a site in a manner
that takes maximum advantage of existing trees, mature vegetation, and structures
by:

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 12 of 34

18



i. Using existing site features to screen the macro facility from
residential properties and the right-of-way; and

il Using existing or new site features as a background in a way that
helps the macro facility blends into the background.

b. As a condition of permit approval, the City may require the applicant to
supplement existing trees and mature vegetation within its screened area to screen
the facility.

C. A macro facility shall be painted either in a nonreflective color or in a color
scheme appropriate to the background against which the macro facility would be
viewed from a majority of points within its viewshed, and in either case the color
must be approved by the City as part of permit approval.

d. Macro facilities may be subject to additional screening requirements by the
Director to mitigate visual impacts to adjoining properties or public right-of-way as
determined by site-specific conditions.

4. If proposing to locate on a building, the macro facility shall meet the height
requirements of underlying zoning category; provided the macro facility may exceed
the height requirements by ten (10) feet so long as the macro facility is shrouded or
screened.

5. If proposing to locate on a replacement utility pole, the height of the replacement
pole shall not exceed fifteen (15) feet taller than the existing pole and may not be
greater than 50 feet tall in residential zones. Within all other zones, the height of the
replacement utility pole shall not exceed 10 feet taller than the height requirements of
the underlying zone.

6. The use of a utility pole for siting of a macro facility shall be considered secondary
to the primary function of the pole. If the primary function of the pole serving as the
host site of the macro facility becomes unnecessary, the pole shall not be retained for
the sole purpose of accommodating the macro facility and the macro facility and all
associated equipment shall be removed.

7. Equipment facilities shall be placed underground if applicable, or, if permitted
above ground, shall:

a. Be screened from any street and adjacent property with fencing, walls,
landscaping, structures or topography or a combination thereof or placed
within a building; and

b. Not be located within required building setback areas.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 13 of 34

19



8. If a security barrier is installed that includes a fence, wall or similar freestanding
structure, the following shall apply:

a. The height of the barrier shall be restricted by the height limitations in the
zoning district. The height is measured from the point of existing or finished
grade, whichever is lower at the exterior side of the barrier to the highest
point of the barrier.

b. Be screened from adjoining properties and city right-of-way through the
use of appropriate landscaping materials including:

i. Placement of landscape vegetation around the perimeter of the
security barrier, except that a maximum 10-foot portion of the fence
may remain without landscaping in order to provide access to the
enclosure.

ii. The landscaping area shall be a minimum of 5 feet in width.

iii. The permittee shall utilize evergreen plants that shall be a minimum
of 6 feet tall at the time of planting and shall obscure the site within 2
years.

iv. Landscaping and the design of the barrier shall be compatible with
other nearby landscaping, fencing and freestanding walls.

v. If a chain link fence is allowed in the zone district, it shall be green
vinyl slats.

9. Sufficient space for temporary parking for regular maintenance of the proposed
macro facility must be demonstrated.

10. Macro facilities may not (i) produce noise in excess of the limitation set forth in
TMC Chapter 6.04; and (ii) be used for mounting signs, billboards or message displays
of any kind.

11. The Director shall consider the cumulative visual effects of macro facilities
mounted on existing structures and/or located on a given permitted site in determining
whether the additional permits can be granted so as to not adversely affect the visual
character of the city.

18.58.070 New Towers.

A. Applicability. Any application for a new macro facility tower shall be reviewed, and
approved or denied, by the Hearing Examiner as a Type 3 decision pursuant to TMC
18.108.030.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 14 of 34

20



B. Review Criteria. The Hearing Examiner shall review the application to construct a new
macro facility tower, and shall determine whether each of the following requirements are
met:

1.That collocation is not feasible because:

a. existing structures or towers do not have sufficient structural strength to
support the applicant's proposed antenna and ancillary facilities;

b. That the applicant's proposed antenna would cause electromagnetic
interference with the antenna on the existing towers or structures, or the antenna on
the existing structures would cause interference with the applicant's proposed antenna;

c. That the fees, costs or contractual provisions required by the owner or
operator in order to share an existing tower or structure, or to locate at an alternative
site, or to adapt an existing tower or structure or alternative site for sharing, are
unreasonable. Costs exceeding new tower construction by 25% are presumed to be
unreasonable; or

d. The applicant demonstrates other limiting factors that render existing towers and
structures or other sites unsuitable. All engineering evidence must be provided and certified
by a registered and qualified professional engineer and clearly demonstrate the evidence
required.

5. The proposed tower meets all applicable design standards in TMC 18.58.060.

6. Where the proposed tower does not comply with the requirements of this Chapter,
the applicant has successfully demonstrated that denial of the application would effectively
prohibit the provision of service in violation of 47 USC 253 and/or 332.

B. Determination. The Hearing Examiner, after holding an open public hearing in
accordance with TMC Chapter 18.112, shall either approve, approve with conditions,
or deny the application .

18.58.080 Removal of Abandoned Wireless Communication Facilities.

Any wireless communication facility that, after the initial operation of the facility, is not used
for the purpose for which it was intended at the time of filing of the application for a
continuous period of 12 months shall be considered abandoned, and the owner of such
facility shall remove same within 90 days of receipt of notice from the City notifying the
owner of such abandonment. Failure to remove such abandoned facility shall result in
declaring the facility a public nuisance. If there are two or more users of a single tower, then
this section shall not become effective until all users cease using the tower.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 15 of 34

21



18.58.090 Eligible Facilities Requests.
A. Under 47 USC 1455 and relevant FCC regulations (see 47 CFR §1.6100), a local
jurisdiction must approve a modification of a wireless facility qualifying as an eligible facility
request. Accordingly, the city adopts the following provisions for review of applications for
eligible facility requests as defined by this chapter and federal law. B. Definitions.
1. “Base station” shall mean and refer to the structure or equipment at a fixed
location that enables wireless communications licensed or authorized by the FCC,
between user equipment and a communications network. The term does not
encompass a tower as defined in this chapter or any equipment associated with a
tower. Base station includes without limitation:
a. Equipment associated with wireless communications services regardless of
technological configuration (including distributed antenna systems (“DAS”) and small
wireless facilities).
b. Radio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or fiber-optic cable, regular and backup
power supplies, and comparable equipment, regardless of technological
configuration (including DAS and small wireless facilities).
c. Any structure other than a tower that, at the time an eligible facilities modification
application is filed with the City under this chapter, supports or houses equipment
described in subparagraphs (a) and (b) of TMC Section 18.58.090.B, and that has
been reviewed and approved under the applicable zoning or siting process, or under
another State, county or local regulatory review process, even if the structure was
not built for the sole or primary purpose of providing such support.
d. The term does not include any structure that, at the time a completed eligible
facilities modification application is filed with the City under this section, does not
support or house equipment described in subparagraphs (a) and (b) of TMC Section
18.58.090.B.
2. “Colocation” shall mean the mounting or installing of transmission equipment on an
eligible support structure for the purpose of transmitting and/or receiving radio
frequency signals for communication purposes.
3. “Eligible facilities request” shall mean any request for modification of an existing
tower or base station that does not substantially change the physical dimensions of
such tower or base station, involving:
(i) Collocation of new transmission equipment;
(i) Removal of transmission equipment; or
(iii) Replacement of transmission equipment.
4. “Eligible support structure” shall mean and refer to any existing tower or base
station as defined in this chapter provided it is in existence at the time the eligible
facilities modification application is filed with the City under this chapter.
5. “Existing” shall mean and refer to a constructed tower or base station that was
reviewed and approved under the applicable zoning or siting process and lawfully
constructed; provided, that a tower that has not been reviewed and approved because
it was notin a zoned area when it was built, but was lawfully constructed, is existing for
purposes of this definition.
6. “Site” shall mean and refer to the current boundaries of the leased or owned
property surrounding a tower (other than a tower in the public rights-of-way) and any
City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 16 of 34

22



access or utility easements currently related to the site and, for other eligible support
structures, shall mean and be further restricted to, that area in proximity to the structure
and to other transmission equipment already deployed on the ground. The current
boundaries of a site are the boundaries that existed as of the date that the original
support structure or a modification to that structure was last reviewed and approved by
a state or local government, if the approval of the modification occurred prior to the
Spectrum Act or otherwise outside of the Section 6409(a) process.
7. “Substantial Change”. A modification will substantially change the physical
dimensions of an eligible support structure if it meets any of the following criteria:
a. For towers not in the public rights-of-way, it increases the height of the tower by
more than 10% or by the height of one additional antenna array with separation from
the nearest existing antenna not to exceed 20 feet, whichever is greater; for other
eligible support structures, it increases the height of the structure by more than 10%
or more than 10 feet, whichever is greater. The separation of antennas is measured
by the distance from the top of the existing antennas to the bottom of the new
antennas.
Changes in height should be measured from the original support structure in cases
where deployments are or will be separated horizontally, such as on buildings’
rooftops; in other circumstances, changes in height should be measured from the
dimensions of the tower or base station, inclusive of originally approved
appurtenances and any modifications that were approved prior to the passage of the
Spectrum Act.
b. For towers not in the public rights-of-way, it involves adding an appurtenance to
the body of the tower that would protrude from the edge of the tower more than 20
feet, or more than the width of the tower structure at the level of the appurtenance,
whichever is greater; for other eligible support structures, it involves adding an
appurtenance to the body of the structure that would protrude from the edge of the
structure by more than 6 feet.
c. For any eligible support structure, it involves installation of more than the standard
number of new equipment cabinets for the technology involved, but not to exceed 4
cabinets; or, for towers in the public rights-of-way and base stations, it involves
installation of any new equipment cabinets on the ground if there are no pre-existing
ground cabinets associated with the structure, or else involves installation of ground
cabinets that are more than 10% larger in height or overall volume than any other
ground cabinets associated with the structure.
d. For any eligible support structure:
(1) it entails any excavation or deployment outside the current site; except that, for
towers other than towers in the public rights-of-way, it entails any excavation or
deployment of transmission equipment outside of the current site by more than 30
feet in any direction. The site boundary from which the 30 feet is measured
excludes any access or utility easements currently related to the site;
(2) it would defeat the concealment elements of the eligible support structure; or
(3) it does not comply with conditions associated with the siting approval of the
construction or modification of the eligible support structure or base station
equipment provided, however, that this limitation does not apply to any

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 17 of 34

23



modification that is non-compliant only in a manner that would not exceed the
thresholds identified in this section.
8. “Tower” shall mean and refer to any structure built for the sole or primary purpose
of supporting any antennas and their associated facilities, licensed or authorized by the
FCC, including structures that are constructed for wireless communications services
including, but not limited to, private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as
unlicensed wireless services and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul,
and the associated site.
9. “Transmission Equipment” shall mean and refer to equipment that facilitates
transmission for any wireless communication service licensed or authorized by the
FCC, including, but not limited to, radio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or fiber-optic
cable, and regular and backup power supply. The term includes equipment associated
with wireless communications services including, but not limited to, private, broadcast,
and public safety services, as well as unlicensed wireless services and fixed wireless
services such as microwave backhaul.
C. Application. The Director shall prepare and make publicly available an application form
that shall be limited to the information necessary for the city to consider whether an
application is an eligible facilities request. The application may not require the applicant to
demonstrate a need or business case for the proposed modification.
D. Qualification as an eligible facilities request. Upon receipt of an application for an eligible
facilities request, the Director shall review such application to determine whether the
application qualifies as an eligible facilities request.
E. Time frame for review. Applications for an eligible facilities request are reviewed by the
Director or his/her designee, who will approve the application within 60 days of the date an
applicant submits an eligible facilities request application, unless the Director determines
that the application does not qualify under FWRC 19.257.020. F. Tolling the time frame for
review. The 60-day review period begins to run when the application is filed and may be
tolled only by mutual agreement by the city and the applicant or in cases where the city
determines that the application is incomplete. The time frame for review of an eligible
facilities request is not tolled by a moratorium on the review of applications.
1. To toll the time frame for incompleteness, the city shall provide written notice to the
applicant within 30 days of receipt of the application, clearly and specifically delineating
all missing documents or information required in the application and including a citation
to the publicly stated code provision requiring such information. The City recognizes
that such a notice is limited to information “reasonably related” to determining whether
the application meets the “eligible facilities request” requirements.
2. The time frame for review begins running again when the applicant makes a
supplemental submission in response to the city’s notice of incompleteness.
3. Following a supplemental submission, the city will notify the applicant within 10 days
if the supplemental submission did not provide the information identified in the original
notice delineating missing information. The time frame is tolled in the case of second or
subsequent notices pursuant to the procedures identified in this subsection. Second or
subsequent notice of incompleteness may not specify missing documents or
information that were not delineated in the original notice of incompleteness.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 18 of 34

24



G. Determination that an application is not an eligible facilities request. If the city
determines that the applicant’ s request does not qualify as an eligible facilities request,
the city shall deny the application.

H. Failure to act. In the event the City fails to approve or deny an eligible facilities request
within the time frame for review (accounting for any tolling), the request shall be deemed
granted. The deemed grant does not become effective until the applicant notifies the city in
writing after the review period has expired (accounting for any tolling) that the application
has been deemed granted.

|. Appeals. Applicants and the City may bring claims related to Section 6409 (a) of the
Spectrum Act, 47 USC 1455(a) to any court of competent jurisdiction.

18.58.100 Small wireless facility application process

A. Applicability. Any applications for small wireless facilities either inside or outside
of the public right-of-way shall comply with the application requirements for a small wireless
facility permit described in this chapter. For small wireless facilities inside the right-of-way,
the applicant must also comply with the requirements pursuant to TMC Chapter 11.32.

B. Completeness. An application for a small wireless facility is not complete until the
applicant has submitted all the applicable items required by TMC Section 18.58.110 and, to
the extent relevant, has submitted all the applicable items in TMC Section 18.58.100.C and
the City has confirmed that the application is complete. Franchisees with a valid franchise
for small wireless facilities may apply for a small wireless permit for the initial or additional
phases of a small wireless facilities deployment at any time subject to the commencement
of a new completeness review time period for permit processing.

C. Application Components. The Director is authorized to establish franchise and
other application forms to gather the information required from applicants to evaluate the
application and to determine the completeness of the application as provided herein. The
application shall include the following components as applicable:

1. Franchise. If any portion of the applicant’s facilities are to be located in the
City’s right-of-way, the applicant shall apply for, and receive approval of a franchise,
consistent with the requirements in TMC Chapter 11.32. An application for a franchise may
be submitted concurrently with an application for small wireless facility permit(s).

2. Small Wireless Facility Permit. The applicant shall submit a small wireless
facility permit application as required in the small wireless facility application requirements
established in TMC Section 18.58.110 and pay the applicable permit fee as set forth in the
fee schedule adopted by resolution of the City Council and which may be amended by the
City Council from time to time.

3. Associated Application(s) and Checklist(s). Any application for a small
wireless permit which contains an element not categorically exempt from SEPA review shall
simultaneously apply under Chapter 43.21C RCW and TMC Title 21. Further, any

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 19 of 34

25



application proposing small wireless facilities in a shoreline area (pursuant to TMC Chapter
18.44) or an environmentally sensitive area (pursuant to TMC Chapter 18.45) shall indicate
why the application is exempt or comply with the review processes in such codes.
Applications for small wireless facilities for new poles shall comply with the requirements in
TMC Section 18.58.160.E.

4. Leases. An applicant who desires to attach a small wireless facility on any
utility pole, light pole, or other structure or building owned by the City shall obtain a lease as
a component of its application. City owned utility poles and the use of other public property,
structures or facilities including, but not limited to any park land or facility, require City
Council approval of a lease or master lease agreement.

18.58.110 Small wireless facility application requirements
The following information shall be provided by all applicants for a small wireless permit.

A. The application shall provide specific locational information including GIS
coordinates of all proposed small wireless facilities and specify where the small wireless
facilities will utilize existing, replacement or new poles, towers, existing buildings and/or
other structures. The applicant shall specify ground-mounted equipment, conduit, junction
boxes and fiber and power connections necessary for and intended for use in the small
wireless facilities system regardless of whether the additional facilities are to be constructed
by the applicant or leased from a third party. The applicant shall provide detailed
schematics and visual renderings of the small wireless facilities, including engineering and
design standards. The application shall have sufficient detail to identify:

1. The location of overhead and, to the extent applicable, underground public
utilities, telecommunication, cable, water, adjacent lighting, sewer drainage and other lines
and equipment within 50 feet of the proposed project area (which project area shall include
the location of the fiber source and power source). Further, the applicant shall include all
existing and proposed improvements related to the proposed location, including but not
limited to poles, driveways, ADA ramps, equipment cabinets, street trees and structures
within 50 feet of the proposed project area.

2. The specific trees, structures, improvements, facilities, lines and equipment,
and obstructions, if any, that applicant proposes to temporarily or permanently remove or
relocate and a landscape plan for protecting, trimming, removing, replacing, and restoring
any trees or significant landscaping to be disturbed during construction. The applicant is
discouraged from cutting/pruning, removing or replacing trees, and if any such tree
modifications are proposed the applicant must comply with applicable provisions of TMC
Chapter 11.20 and Chapter 18.54.

3 The applicant’s plan for fiber and power service, all conduits, cables, wires,
handholes, junctions, meters, disconnect switches and any other ancillary equipment or
construction necessary to construct the small wireless facility, to the extent to which the

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 20 of 34

26



applicant is responsible for installing such fiber and power service, conduits, cables, and
related improvements. Where another party is responsible for installing such fiber and
power service, conduits, cables, and related improvements, applicant’'s construction
drawings shall include such utilities to the extent known at the time of application, but at a
minimum applicant must indicate how it expects to obtain power and fiber service to the
small wireless facility.

4. A photometric analysis of the roadway and sidewalk within 150 feet of the
existing light if the site location includes a new light pole or replacement light pole if in a
new location.

5. Compliance with the applicable aesthetic requirements pursuant to TMC
Section 18.58.150 and 18.58.160.

B. The applicant must show written approval, or conditional approval that pole owner
approves if City also approves, from the owner of any pole or structure for the installation of
its small wireless facilities on such pole or structure. Such written approval shall include
approval of the specific pole, engineering and design specifications for the pole, as well as
assurances that the specific pole can withstand wind and seismic loads as well as
assurances in accordance with TMC Section 18.58.110.F, from the pole owner, unless the
pole owner is the City. For City-owned poles or structures, the applicant shall obtain a
lease from the City prior to or concurrent with the small wireless facility permit application
so the City can evaluate the use of a specific pole.

C. The applicant is encouraged to batch the small wireless facility sites within an
application in a contiguous service area and/or with similar designs.

D. The applicant shall submit a sworn affidavit signed by a Radio Frequency (RF)
engineer with knowledge of the proposed project affirming that the small wireless facility will
be compliant with all FCC and other governmental regulations in connection with human
exposure to radio frequency emissions for every frequency at which the small wireless
facility will operate. If facilities that generate RF radiation necessary to the small wireless
facility are to be provided by a third party, then the small wireless permit shall be
conditioned on an RF certification showing the cumulative impact of the RF emissions from
the entire installation. The applicant may provide one emissions report for the entire batch
of small wireless facility applications if the applicant is using the same small wireless facility
configuration for all installations within that batch or may submit one emissions report for
each subgroup installation identified in the batch.

E. The applicant shall provide proof of FCC or other regulatory approvals required to
provide the service(s) or utilize the technologies sought to be installed, if such approvals
are required.

F. A professional engineer licensed by the State of Washington shall certify in writing,
over his or her seal, that construction plans of the small wireless facilities and structure or

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 21 of 34

27



pole and foundation are designed to reasonably withstand wind and seismic loads as
required by applicable codes.

G. Those elements that are typically contained in the right-of-way permit pursuant to
TMC chapter 11.08, including a traffic control plan, to allow the applicant to proceed with
the build-out of the small wireless facility.

H. Proof of a valid City of Tukwila business license.

I.  Recognizing that small wireless facility technology is rapidly evolving, the Director
is authorized to adopt and publish standards for the structural safety of City-owned poles
and structures, and to formulate and publish application questions for use when an
applicant seeks to attach to City-owned poles and structures.

J. Such other information as the Director, in his/her reasonable discretion, shall deem
appropriate to effectively evaluate the application based on technical, engineering and
aesthetic considerations.

18.58.120 Small wireless facility review criteria and process

A. The following provisions relate to the review of applications for a small wireless
facility permit:

1. In any zone, upon application for a small wireless permit, the City will permit
small wireless facilities only when the application meets the applicable criteria of TMC
Chapter 18.58.

2. Vertical clearance shall be reviewed by the Director in accordance with NESC
or applicable pole safety codes to ensure the small wireless facilities will not pose a hazard
to other users of the rights-of-way.

3. Replacement poles, new poles, and ground-mounted equipment shall only be
permitted pursuant to the applicable standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.

4. No equipment shall be operated so as to produce noise in violation of TMC
Chapter 8.22.

5. Small wireless facilities may not encroach onto or over private property or
property outside of the right-of-way without the property owner’s express written consent
pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.A.1.

B. Decision. All small wireless facility applications shall be reviewed and approved
or denied by the Director. The Director’s decision shall be final and is not subject to appeal
under City code or further review by the City.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 22 of 34

28



C. Eligible Facilities Requests. Small wireless facilities may be expanded pursuant
to an eligible facility request so long as the expansion:

1. does not defeat the specifically designated stealth techniques; and

2. incorporates the aesthetic elements required as conditions of approval set
forth in the original small wireless facility approval in a manner consistent with the rights
granted an eligible facility; and

3. does not exceed the conditions of a small wireless facility as defined by 47
CFR 1.6002(1).

D. Public Notice. The City shall provide notice of a complete application for a small
wireless facility permit on the City’s website with a link to the application. Prior to
construction, the applicant shall provide notice of construction to all impacted property
owners within 100 feet of any proposed small wireless facility via a doorhanger that shall
include an email contact and telephone number for the applicant. Notice is for the public’s
information and is not a part of a hearing or part of the land use appeal process.

E. Withdrawal. Any applicant may withdraw an application submitted at any time,
provided the withdrawal is in writing and signed by all persons who signed the original
application or their successors in interest. When a withdrawal is received, the application
shall be deemed null and void. If such withdrawal occurs prior to the Director’s decision,
then reimbursement of fees submitted in association with said application shall be reduced
to withhold the amount of actual and objectively reasonable City costs incurred in
processing the application prior to time of withdrawal. If such withdrawal is not
accomplished prior to the Director’s decision, there shall be no refund of all or any portion
of such fee.

F. Supplemental Information. Failure of an applicant to provide supplemental
information as requested by the Director within 68 90 days of notice by the Director shall be
grounds for denial of that application unless an extension period has been approved by the
Director. If no extension period has been approved by the Director, the Director shall notify
the applicant in writing that the application is denied.

G. Consolidated Permit. The issuance of a small wireless permit grants authority to
construct small wireless facilities in the rights-of-way in a consolidated manner to allow the
applicant, in most situations, to avoid the need to seek duplicative approval by both the
Public Works and the Community Development departments. The general standards
applicable to the use of the rights-of-way described in TMC Chapter 11.08 shall apply to all
small wireless facility permits.

18.58.130 Small wireless facility permit requirements

A. Permit Compliance. The permittee shall comply with all of the requirements
within the small wireless facility permit.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 23 of 34

29



B. Post-Construction As-Builts. Upon request, the permittee shall provide the City
with as-builts of the small wireless facilities within 30 days after construction of the small
wireless facility, demonstrating compliance with the permit, visual renderings submitted with
the permit application and any site photographs taken.

C. Construction Time Limit. Construction of the small wireless facility must be
completed within 12 months after the approval date by the City. The permittee may request
one extension of no more than six months, if the permittee provides an explanation as to
why the small wireless facility cannot be constructed within the original 12-month period.

D. Site Safety and Maintenance. The permittee must maintain the small wireless
facilities in safe and working condition. The permittee shall be responsible for the removal
of any graffiti or other vandalism of the small wireless facility and shall keep the site neat
and orderly, including but not limited to following any maintenance or modifications on the
site.

E. Operational Activity. The permittee shall commence operation of the small
wireless facility no later than six months after installation. The permittee may request two
extensions, each for an additional six-month period if the permittee can show that such
operational activity is delayed due to inability to connect to electrical or backhaul facilities.

18.58.140 Small wireless facility modification

A. If a permittee desires to modify their small wireless facilities, including but not
limited to expanding or changing the antenna type, increasing the equipment enclosure,
placing additional pole-mounted or ground-mounted equipment, or modifying the stealth
techniques, then the permittee shall apply for a new small wireless permit.

B. A small wireless facility permit shall not be required for routine maintenance and
repair of a small wireless facility within the rights-of-way, or the replacement of an antenna
or equipment of similar size, weight, and height; provided, that such replacement does not
defeat the stealth techniques used in the original small wireless facility and does not impact
the structural integrity of the pole. Further, a small wireless facility permit shall not be
required for replacing equipment within the equipment enclosure or reconfiguration of fiber
or power to the small wireless facilities. Right-of-way use permits may be required for such
routine maintenance, repair or replacement consistent with Chapter 11.08 TMC.

18.58.150 Decorative poles.

A. The City discourages the use or replacement of certain decorative poles for small
wireless facilities due to the aesthetic impact to the City’s streetscape. Accordingly, the
pedestrian light pole (herein referred to as “decorative poles”), designated in the City’s
Infrastructure Design and Construction Standards, are discouraged from use or
replacement for small wireless facilities:

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 24 of 34

30



B. Applications for small wireless facilities attached to decorative poles shall comply
with TMC 18.58.160(F).

18.58.160 Small wireless facility aesthetic, concealment, and design standards

A. All small wireless facilities shall conform with the following general aesthetic,
concealment, and design standards, as applicable:

1. Except for locations in the right-of-way, small wireless facilities are prohibited
on any property containing a single-family residential use in a residential zone; provided
that where small wireless facilities are intended to be located more than 400 feet from a
right-of-way and within an access easement over residential property, the location may be
allowed if:

a. the applicant affirms they have received an access easement from the
property owner to locate the facility in the desired location; and

b. the property owner where the facility will be installed has authority to grant
such permission to locate the facility and related equipment at the designated location
pursuant to the terms of the access easement; and

c. theinstallation is allowed by, and consistent with, the access easement;
and

d. such installation will not frustrate the purpose of the easement or create
any access or safety issue; and

e. thelocation isin compliance with all land use regulations such as, but not
limited to, setback requirements.

2. In the event power is later undergrounded in an area where small wireless
facilities are located above ground on utility poles, the small wireless facilities shall be
removed and may be replaced with a facility meeting the design standards for new poles in
TMC Section 18.58.160.E.

3. Except for electrical meters with prior City approval, ground-mounted
equipment in the rights-of-way is prohibited, unless such facilities are placed underground,
or the applicant can demonstrate that pole-mounted or undergrounded equipment is
technically infeasible. If ground-mounted equipment is necessary, then the applicant shall
submit a stealth technique plan substantially conforming to the applicable standards in TMC
Section 18.58.160.E.3 and comply with the ADA, City construction standards, and state and
federal regulations in order to provide a clear and safe passage within the public rights-of-
way. Generators located in the rights-of-way are prohibited.

4. No signage, message, or identification other than the manufacturer’s
identification or signage required by governing law is allowed to be portrayed on any
antenna or equipment enclosure. Any permitted signage shall be located on the equipment
enclosures and be of the minimum amount possible to achieve the intended purpose (no
larger than four by six inches); provided, that signs may be permitted as stealth techniques

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 25 of 34

31



technique where appropriate and safety signage as required by applicable laws,
regulations, and standards is permitted.

5. Antennas and related equipment shall not be illuminated except for security
reasons, required by a federal or state authority, or unless approved as part of the stealth
techniques requirements pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.E.3.

6. The design standards in this chapter are intended to be used solely for the
purpose of concealment and siting. Nothing contained in this chapter shall be interpreted
or applied in a manner which dictates the use of a particular technology. When strict
application of these requirements would render the small wireless facility technically
infeasible or otherwise have the effect of prohibiting wireless service, alternative forms of
aesthetic design or concealment may be permitted which provide similar or greater
protections from negative visual impacts to the streetscape.

B. General Pole Standards. In addition to complying with the applicable general
standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A, all small wireless facilities on any type of utility pole
shall conform to the following general pole design requirements as well as the applicable
pole specific standards:

1. The preferred location of a small wireless facility on a pole is the location with
the least visible impact.

2. The City may consider the cumulative visual effects of small wireless facilities
mounted on poles within the rights-of-way when assessing proposed siting locations so as
to not adversely affect the visual character of the City. This provision shall neither be
applied to limit the number of permits issued when no alternative sites are reasonably
available nor to impose a technological requirement on the applicant.

3. Small wireless facilities are not permitted on traffic signal poles unless denial
of the siting could be a prohibition or effective prohibition of the applicant’s ability to provide
telecommunications service in violation of 47 USC 253 and 332.

4. Replacement poles and new poles shall comply with the Americans with
Disabilities Act, City construction and sidewalk clearance standards, City development
standards, City ordinances, and state and federal laws and regulations in order to provide a
clear and safe passage within the rights-of-way. Further, the location of any replacement or
new pole must: be physically possible, comply with applicable traffic warrants, not interfere
with utility or safety fixtures (e.g., fire hydrants, traffic control devices), and not adversely
affect the public welfare, health, or safety.

5. Replacement poles shall be located as near as possible to the existing pole,
but in no event further than ten (10) feet from the existing pole. Compliance with the light
standards in the Tukwila Infrastructure and Construction Standards Manual is required and
the existing pole shall be removed.

6. Side arm mounts for antennas or equipment must be the minimum extension
necessary, and for wooden poles may be no more than 12 inches off the pole, and for
nonwooden poles no more than six inches off the pole.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 26 of 34

32



7. The use of the pole for the siting of a small wireless facility shall be considered
secondary to the primary function of the pole. If the primary function of a pole serving as
the host site for a small wireless facility becomes unnecessary, the pole shall not be
retained for the sole purpose of accommodating the small wireless facility and the small
wireless facility and all associated equipment shall be removed.

C. Nonwooden Pole Design Standards. In addition to complying with the applicable
general standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B, small
wireless facilities attached to existing or replacement nonwooden poles inside or outside
the right-of-way shall conform to the following design criteria:

1. All replacement poles shall conform to the City’s standard small wireless
facility pole design(s) published in the City’s Infrastructure Design and Construction
Standards. The applicant, upon a showing that use or modification of the standard pole
design is either technically or physically infeasible, or that the modified pole design will not
comply with the City’s ADA or sidewalk clearance requirements and/or would violate
electrical or other safety standards, may deviate from the adopted standard pole design
and use the design standards as described in this TMC Section 18.58.160.C., subsections
2 through 8.

2. Antennas and the associated equipment enclosures (including disconnect
switches and other appurtenant devices) shall be fully concealed within the pole, unless
such concealment is technically infeasible, or is incompatible with the pole design, then the
antennas and associated equipment enclosures must be camouflaged to appear as an
integral part of the pole or flush-mounted to the pole, meaning no more than six inches off
of the pole, and must be the minimum size necessary for the intended purpose, not to
exceed the volumetric dimensions of small wireless facilities. If the equipment enclosure is
permitted on the exterior of the pole, the applicant is required to place the equipment
enclosure behind any banners or road signs that may be on the pole; provided, that such
location does not interfere with the operation of the banners or signs, or the small wireless
facility.

For purposes of this section, ‘incompatible with the pole design” may include a
demonstration by the applicant that the visual impact to the pole or the streetscape would
be reduced by placing the antennas and equipment exterior to the pole.

3. The farthest point of any antenna or equipment enclosure may not extend
more than 28 inches from the face of the pole.

4. All conduit, cables, wires, and fiber must be routed internally in the pole. Full
concealment of all conduit, cables, wires, and fiber is required within mounting brackets,
shrouds, canisters, or sleeves if attaching to exterior antennas or equipment.

5. Anantenna on top of an existing pole may not extend more than 6 feet above
the height of the existing pole and the diameter may not exceed 16 inches, measured at the
top of the pole, unless the applicant can demonstrate that more space is needed. The

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 27 of 34

33



antennas shall be integrated into the pole design so that they appear as a continuation of
the original pole, including colored or painted to match the pole, and shall be shrouded or
screened to blend with the pole except for canister antennas, which shall not require
screening. To the extent technically feasible, all cabling and mounting hardware/brackets
from the bottom of the antenna to the top of the pole shall be fully concealed and integrated
with the pole.

6. Any replacement pole shall substantially conform to the design of the poleitis
replacing (including but not limited to color, shape and style) or the neighboring pole design
standards utilized within the contiguous right-of-way.

7. The height of any replacement pole and antenna(s) may not extend more than
10 feet above the height of the existing pole or the minimum additional height necessary;
provided, that the height of the replacement pole cannot be extended further by additional
antenna height.

8. The diameter of a replacement pole shall comply with the City’s setback and
sidewalk clearance requirements and shall, to the extent technically feasible, not be more
than a 25 percent increase of the existing pole measured at the base of the pole, unless
additional diameter is needed in order to conceal equipment within the base of the pole.

D. Wooden Pole Design Standards. In addition to complying with the applicable
general standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B, small
wireless facilities attached to existing or replacement wooden utility poles and other
wooden poles inside or outside the right-of-way shall conform to the following design
criteria:

1. The wooden pole at the proposed location may be replaced with a taller pole
for the purpose of accommodating a small wireless facility; provided, that the replacement
pole shall not exceed a height that is a maximum of 10 feet taller than the existing pole,
unless a further height increase is required and confirmed in writing by the pole owner and
that such height extension is the minimum extension possible to provide sufficient
separation and/or clearance from electrical and wireline facilities.

2. A pole extender may be used instead of replacing an existing pole, but may
not increase the height of the existing pole by more than 10 feet, unless a further height
increase is required and confirmed in writing by the pole owner and that such height
increase is the minimum extension possible to provide sufficient separation and/or
clearance from electrical and wireline facilities. A “pole extender” as used herein is an
object affixed between the pole and the antenna for the purpose of increasing the height of
the antenna above the pole. The pole extender shall be painted to approximately match
the color of the pole and shall substantially match the diameter of the pole measured at the
top of the pole.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 28 of 34

34



3. Replacement wooden poles must either match the approximate color and
materials of the replaced pole or shall be the standard new wooden pole used by the pole
owner in the City.

4. The diameter of a replacement pole shall comply with the City’s setback and
sidewalk clearance requirements and shall not be more than a 25 percent increase of the
existing utility pole measured at the base of the pole or the otherwise standard size used by
the pole owner.

5. All cables and wires shall be routed through conduits along the outside of the
pole. The outside conduit shall be colored or painted to match the pole. The number of
conduits shall be minimized to the number technically necessary to accommodate the small
wireless facility.

6. Antennas, equipment enclosures, and all ancillary equipment, boxes and
conduit shall be colored or painted to match the approximate color of the surface of the
wooden pole on which they are attached.

7. Antennas shall not be mounted more than 12 inches from the surface of the
wooden pole.

8. Antennas should be placed in an effort to minimize visual clutter and
obtrusiveness. Multiple antennas are permitted on a wooden pole; provided, that each
antenna shall not be more than three cubic feet in volume.

9. A canister antenna may be mounted on top of an existing or replacement
wooden pole, which may not exceed the height requirements described in TMC Section
158.58.170.D.1. A canister antenna mounted on the top of a wooden pole shall not exceed
16 inches in diameter, measured at the top of the pole and, to the extent technically
feasible, shall be colored or painted to match the pole. The canister antenna must be
placed to look as if it is an extension of the pole. In the alternative, the applicant may install
a side-mounted canister antenna, so long as the inside edge of the antenna is no more
than 12 inches from the surface of the wooden pole. All cables shall be concealed either
within the canister antenna or within a sleeve between the antenna and the wooden pole.

10. The farthest point of any antenna or equipment enclosure may not extend
more than 28 inches from the face of the pole.

11. An omnidirectional antenna may be mounted on the top of an existing wooden
pole, provided such antenna is no more than four feet in height and is mounted directly on
the top of a pole or attached to a sleeve made to look like the exterior of the pole as close
to the top of the pole as technically feasible. All cables shall be concealed within the sleeve
between the bottom of the antenna and the mounting bracket.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 29 of 34

35



12. All related antenna equipment, including but not limited to ancillary equipment,
radios, cables, associated shrouding, microwaves, and conduit which are mounted on
wooden poles, shall not be mounted more than six inches from the surface of the pole,
unless a further distance is technically required and is confirmed in writing by the pole
owner.

13. Equipment for small wireless facilities must be attached to the wooden pole,
unless otherwise permitted to be ground mounted pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.A.3.
The equipment must be placed in the smallest enclosure possible for the intended
purpose. The equipment enclosure and all other wireless equipment associated with the
utility pole, including wireless equipment associated with the antenna, and any preexisting
associated equipment on the pole, may not exceed 28 cubic feet. Multiple equipment
enclosures may be acceptable if designed to more closely integrate with the pole design
and do not cumulatively exceed 28 cubic feet. The applicant is encouraged to place the
equipment enclosure(s) behind any banners or road signs that may be on the pole;
provided, that such location does not interfere with the operation of the banners or signs, or
the small wireless facility.

14. An applicant who desires to enclose both its antennas and equipment within
one unified enclosure may do so; provided, that such enclosure is the minimum size
necessary for its intended purpose and the enclosure and all other wireless equipment
associated with the pole, including wireless equipment associated with the antenna and any
preexisting associated equipment on the pole, do not exceed 28 cubic feet. The unified
enclosure may not be placed more than six inches from the surface of the pole, unless a
further distance is required and confirmed in writing by the pole owner. To the extent
possible, the unified enclosure shall be placed so as to appear as an integrated part of the
pole or behind banners or signs; provided, that such location does not interfere with the
operation of the banners or signs.

E. Standards for small wireless facilities on new poles in the rights-of-way and
installations on decorative poles. In addition to complying with the applicable general
standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B, small wireless
facilities proposed to be attached to new poles or decorative poles shall comply with
following:

1. Applicability. New poles within the rights-of-way or installations on a decorative
pole are only permitted if the applicant can establish that:

a. The proposed small wireless facility cannot be located on an existing utility
pole, electrical transmission tower, or on a site outside of the public rights-of-way such as a
public park, public property, building, transmission tower or in or on a nonresidential use in
a residential zone, whether by roof or panel mount or separate structure; and

b. The proposed small wireless facility receives approval for a stealth
technique design, as described in TMC Section 18.58.160.E.3; and

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 30 of 34

36



c. The proposed small wireless facility also complies with the Shoreline
Management Act, Growth Management Act, and State Environmental Policy Act, if
applicable; and

d. No new poles shall be located in a critical area or associated buffer
required by the City’s Environmentally Sensitive Areas ordinance, TMC Chapter 18.45,
except when determined to be exempt pursuant to said ordinance.

2. Review. An application for a new pole or installation on a decorative pole is
subject to administrative review and approval or denial by the Director.

3. New poles. All new poles shall conform to the City’s standard pole design
adopted in the City’s Infrastructure Design and Construction Standards. If the City’s
standard pole design is technically infeasible, the new pole shall comply with the stealth
technique design consistent with TMC 18.58.160(E)(5) below.

4. Decorative poles. If the applicant desires to place the small wireless facility on
a decorative pole, and the city has adopted a small wireless facility standard for the
decorative pole in the City’s Infrastructure Design and Construction Standards, then the
applicant shall attempt to utilize the adopted decorative pole design. The applicant, upon a
showing that using the standard decorative pole design is either technically or physically
infeasible, or that a modified pole design will not comply with the city’s ADA or sidewalk
clearance requirements and/or would violate electrical or other safety standards, may
deviate from the adopted standard decorative pole design and propose a stealth technique
design consistent with TMC 18.58.160(E)(5) below.

5. The stealth technique design shall include the design of the screening,
fencing, or other concealment technique for the pole, equipment enclosure, and all related
transmission equipment or facilities associated with the proposed small wireless facility,
including but not limited to fiber and power connections.

b. The stealth technique design should seek to minimize the visual
obtrusiveness of the small wireless facility. The proposed pole or structure should have
similar designs to existing neighboring poles in the rights-of-way, including similar height to
the extent technically feasible. If the proposed small wireless facility is placed on a
replacement pole in a design district, then the replacement pole shall be of the same
general design as the pole it is replacing, unless the Director otherwise approves a
variation due to aesthetic or safety concerns. Any stealth technique design for a small
wireless facility on a decorative pole should attempt to mimic the design of such pole and
integrate the small wireless facility into the design of the decorative pole. Other stealth
technique methods include, but are not limited to, integrating the installation with
architectural features or building design components; utilization of coverings or
concealment devices of similar material, color, and texture—or the appearance thereof—as
the surface against which the installation will be seen or on which it will be installed;
landscape design; or other camouflage strategies appropriate for the type of installation.
Applicants are required to utilize designs in which all conduit and wires are installed

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 31 of 34

37



internally within the structure. Further, applicant designs should, to the extent technically
feasible, comply with the generally applicable design standards adopted pursuant to TMC
Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B.

c. Ifthe Director has already approved a stealth technique design either for
the applicant or another small wireless facility along the same public right-of-way or for the
same pole type, then the applicant shall utilize a substantially similar stealth technique
design, unless it can show that such stealth technique design is not technically feasible, or
that such design would undermine the generally applicable design standards adopted
pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B.

d. Even if an alternative location is established pursuant to TMC Section
18.58.160.E.1.a, the Director may determine, at the applicant’s written request, that a new
pole in the right-of-way is in fact a superior alternative based on the impact to the City, the
stealth technique design, the City’s Comprehensive Plan and the added benefits to the
community.

e. Prior to the issuance of a permit to construct a new pole or ground-
mounted equipment in the right-of-way, the applicant must obtain a master lease
agreement from the City to locate such new pole or ground-mounted equipment. This
requirement also applies to replacement poles that are taller than the replaced pole, when
the overall height of the replacement pole and the proposed small wireless facility is more
than 60 feet.

F. Standards for small wireless facilities attached to cables. In addition to
complying with the applicable general standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A, all small
wireless facilities mounted on existing cables strung between existing utility poles shall
conform to the following standards:

1. Each strand-mounted facility shall not exceed three cubic feet in volume;

2. Only one strand-mounted facility is permitted per cable between any two
existing poles on an existing cable;

3. The strand-mounted devices shall be placed as close as feasible to the
nearest utility pole, in no event more than ten (10) feet from the pole unless that location is
technically infeasible or is not allowed by the pole owner for safety clearance;

4. No strand-mounted device shall be located in or above the portion of the
roadway open to vehicular traffic;

5. Ground-mounted equipment to accommodate a shared mounted facility is not
permitted except when placed in preexisting equipment cabinets or required by a third-party
electrical service provider; and

6. Pole-mounted equipment shall comply with the requirements of TMC Section
18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 32 of 34

38



7. Such strand-mounted devices must be installed to cause the least visual
impact and without excess exterior cabling or wires (other than the original strand).

G. Standards for small wireless facilities attached to existing buildings. In
addition to complying with the applicable general standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A, all
small wireless facilities attached to existing buildings shall conform to the following design
criteria:

1. Small wireless facilities may be mounted to the sides of a building if the
antennas do not interrupt the building’s architectural theme.

2. The interruption of architectural lines or horizontal or vertical reveals is
discouraged.

3. New architectural features such as columns, pilasters, corbels, or other
ornamentation that conceal antennas may be used if it complements the architecture of the
existing building.

4. Small wireless facilities shall utilize the smallest mounting brackets necessary
in order to provide the smallest offset from the building.

5. Skirts or shrouds shall be utilized on the sides and bottoms of antennas in
order to conceal mounting hardware, create a cleaner appearance, and minimize the visual
impact of the antennas. Exposed cabling/wiring is prohibited.

6. To the extent technically feasible, small wireless facilities shall be painted and
textured to match the adjacent building surfaces.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 33 of 34

39



Chapter 18.06
Definitions

The following definitions are proposed to be deleted from TMC 18.06 and replaced as
applicable with new definitions in TMC 18.58.040

18.06.039 — Ancillary Wireless Communication Facilities
18.06.040 — Ancillary Wireless Communication Facility

18.06.041 — Antenna(s)

18.06.042 — Antenna(s) Array

18.06.043 — Antennas(s), Flush Mounted

18.06.773 — Significant Gap in Service, Wireless Communications
18.06.823 — Tower, Electrical Transmission

18.06.824 — Tower, Guy

18.06.825 — Tower, Lattice

18.06.826 — Tower, Monopole

18.06.827 — Tower, Wireless Communication Facility

18.06.828 — Tower-Mounted Facilities

18.06.902 — Utility pole.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 34 of 34

40



Chapter 18.58
WIRELESS COMMUNICATION FACILITIES

Sections:

18.58.010  Purpose

18.58.020  Authority and Application

18.58.030 Exemptions

18.58.040  Definitions

18.58.050  General Provisions

18.58.060  Macro Facilities

18.58.070  New Towers

18.58.080  Removal of Abandoned Wireless Communication Facilities.
18.58.090 Eligible Facilities Requests

18.58.100  Small wireless facility application process

18.58.110  Small wireless facility application requirements

18.58.120  Small wireless facility review criteria and process
18.58.130  Small wireless facility permit requirements

18.58.140  Small wireless facility modification

18.58.150  Decorative poles

18.58.160  Small wireless facility aesthetic, concealment, and design standards

18.58.010 Purpose.

A. The purpose of this Chapter , in addition to implementing the general purposes of the
Comprehensive Plan and development requlations, is to regulate the permitting, placement,

construction, and modification of wireless communication facilities, in order to protect the
health, safety and welfare of the public, while not unreasonably interfering with the
development of the competitive wireless telecommunications marketplace in the City. The
purpose of this Chapter will be achieved through adherence to the following objectives:

1. Establish clear and nondiscriminatory local regulations concerning wireless
telecommunications providers and services that are consistent with Federal and State
laws and regulations pertaining to telecommunications providers;

2. Protect residential areas and land uses from potential adverse impacts that wireless
communication facilities might create, including but not limited to impacts on
aesthetics, environmentally sensitive areas, historically significant locations, and flight

corridors.-and-health-and safety of persons-and-property;

3. Minimize potential adverse visual, aesthetic, and safety impacts of wireless

com

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 1 of 47

munication facilitiesEncourage-providers-of-wireless-communicationfacilitiesto

ATTACHMENT B

41


wynetta
Text Box
ATTACHMENT B


4. Establish objective standards for the placement of wireless communications
facilities;

5. Ensure that such standards allow competition and do not unreasonably discriminate
among providers of functionally equivalent services;

6. Encourage the location or attachment of multiple facilities within or on existing
structures to help minimize the total number and impact of such facilities throughout

the community;

76._Require cooperation between competitors and, as a primary option, joint use of
new and existing towers, tower sites and suitable structures to the greatest extent
possible, in order to reduce cumulative negative impact upon the City;

8. Ensure-Encourage wireless communication facilities to be are configured in a way

that minimizes the adverse visual impact of the wireless communication facilities, as
viewed from different vantage points, through careful design, landscape screening,
minimal impact siting options and camouflaging techniques, and through assessment
of technelogythe carrier's service objective, current location options, siting, future

available locations, and innovative siting techniques-and-siting-pessibilities beyond-the

juredictiona beundarioo e the Dty ‘ Commented [1]: AT&T — proposed revisions that City

accepted

9._ Enhance the ability of the wireless communications facility providers ef
telecommunications—services—to provide such services to the community quickly,
effectively and efficiently;

10. Provide for the removal of wireless communication facilities that are abandoned or
no longer inspected for safety concerns and Building Code compliance, and provide a
mechanism for the City to cause these abandoned wireless communication facilities to
be removed, to protect the citizens from imminent harm and danger;

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 2 of 47

42



B. In furtherance of these objectives, the City shall give due consideration to the
Comprehensive Land Use Plan, zoning code, existing land uses, and environmentally
sensitive areas in approving sites for the location of communication towers and antennas.

C. These objectives were developed to protect the public health, safety and welfare, to
protect property values, and to minimize visual impact, while furthering the development of
enhanced telecommunication services in the City. e i

i icati —~The provisions of this Chapter are not
intended to and shall not be interpreted to prohibit or to have the effect of prohibiting
personal wireless services. This Chapter shall not be applied in such a manner as to
unreasonably discriminate between providers of functionally equivalent personal wireless
services_or to prohibit or have the effect of prohibiting wireless service within the City.

D. To the extent that any provision of this Chapter is inconsistent or conflicts with any other
City ordinance, this Chapter shall control. Otherwise, this Chapter shall be construed
consistently with the other provisions and regulations of the City.

18.58.020 Authority and Application.

The provisions of this Chapter shall apply to the placement, construction or modification of
all wireless communication facilities, except as specifically exempted in TMC Section
18.58.030. Any person who desires to locate a wireless communications facility inside or
outside the right-of-way, which is not specifically exempted by TMC Section 18.58.030,
shall comply with the applicable application permitting requirements, and design and
aesthetic regulations described in this Chapter. In addition, applicants for wireless
communication facilities inside the City’s right-of-way must also obtain a franchise pursuant
to TMC Chapter 11.32.

18.58.030 Exemptions.

A4 The provisions of this Chapter shall not apply to the following:

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 3 of 47

43



al. Routine maintenance and repair of wireless communication facilities_(excluding
structural work or changes in height or dimensions of support structures or buildings);
provided, that the wireless communications facilities received approval from the City for the
original placement and construction and provided further that compliance with the
standards of this code is maintained and right-of-use permit obtained if the wireless

communlcatlon faC|I|tv is Iocated in the rlqht of wav Ims—shau-neunelﬁdeehange&m—heght

2be. Changing or adding additional antennas within a previously permitted concealed
building-mounted installation is exempt provided there is no visible change from the
outside.

3ed. Bird exclusionary devices-may-be-added-to-towers-and-are-netsubject-to-height
i ' .tat.e S.

4de. Additional ground equipment may-be-placed within an approved equipment
enclosure, provided the height of the equipment does not extend above the screening
fence.

5e. 2-An antenna that is designed to receive or send direct broadcast satellite service
and/or broadband signals, or other means for providing internet service including direct-to-
home satellite services, and that is 1 meter or less in diameter or diagonal measurement,
and when the antenna is attached to the residence or business that is utilizing the service.

6£3. An antenna that is designed to receive video programming services via multipoint
distribution services, including multi-channel multipoint distribution services, instructional
television fixed services, and local multipoint distribution services, and that is 1 meter or
less in diameter or diagonal measurement.

7g4. An antenna that is designed to receive television broadcast signals.

8h5. Antennas for the receiving and sending of amateur radio devices or HAM radios,
provided that the antennas meet the height requirements of the applicable zoning district,
and are owned and operated by a Federally-licensed amateur radio station operator or are
used excluswely for recelve onIy antennas and provided further that compliance W|th the

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 4 of 47

44



9i6. Emergency communications equipment during a declared public emergency, when
the equipment is owned and operated by an appropriate public entity.

10§7. Any wireless irterret-communications facility that is owned and operated by a

government entity, for public safety radio systems, ham radio and business radio svstems\.,, ) Commented [EFM2]: Crown Castle — proposed revision
that City accepted.

11k8. Antennas and related equipment no more than 3 feet in height that are being
stored;-shipped or displayed for sale.

1219. Radar systems for military and civilian communication and navigation.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 5 of 47

45



13m. Automated meter reading (“AMR”) facilities for collecting utility meter data for use
in the sale of utility services, except for WIP and other antennas greater than two feet in
length, so long as the AMR facilities are within the scope of activities permitted under a
valid franchise agreement between the utility service provider and the City.

14n. Eligible facilities requests. See TMC Section 18.58.090.

18.58.040 Definitions

For the purposes of this Chapter, the following terms shall have the meaning ascribed to
them below.

1. “Antenna(s)” in the context of small wireless facilities and consistent with 47
CFR 1.1320(w) and 1.6002(b) means an apparatus designed for the purpose of emitting
radiofrequency (“RF”) radiation, to be operated or operating from a fixed location pursuant
to FCC authorization, for the provision of personal wireless and any commingled
information services. For the purposes of this definition, the term “antenna” does not
include an unintentional radiator, mobile station, or device authorized by 47 CFR Title 15.

2. “Antenna equipment,” consistent with 47 CFR 1.1320(d), means equipment,
switches, wiring, cabling, power sources, shelters, or cabinets associated with an antenna,
located at the same fixed location as the antenna, and when collocated on a structure, are
mounted or installed at the same time as the antenna.

3. “Applicant” means any person submitting an application for a wireless
communication facility permit pursuant to this Chapter.

4. “Collocation” means:

a. Mounting or installing an antenna facility on a preexisting structure;

and/or
b. Modifying a structure for the purpose of mounting or installing an antenna
facility on that structure.

5. “Director” means the Department of Community Development Director or
designee.

6. “Equipment enclosure” means a facility, shelter, cabinet, or vault used to
house and protect electronic or other associated equipment necessary for processing
wireless communication signals. “Associated equipment” may include, for example, air
conditioning, backup power supplies, and emergency generators.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 6 of 47

46



7. “FCC” or “Federal Communications Commission” means the federal
administrative _agency, or lawful successor, authorized to regulate and oversee
telecommunications carriers, services and providers on a national level.

8. “Macro Facility” means a large wireless communication facility that provides
radio frequency coverage for wireless services. Generally, macro facility antennas are
mounted on ground-based towers, rooftops and other existing structures, at a height that
provides a clear view over the surrounding buildings and terrain. Macro WCF typically
contain antennas that are greater than three cubic feet per antenna and typically cover
large geographic areas with relatively high capacity and may be capable of hosting multiple
wireless service providers. Macro facilities include but are not limited to monopoles, lattice
towers, macro cells, roof-mounted and panel antennas, and other similar facilities.

9. “Permittee” means a person who has applied for and received a wireless
communication facility permit pursuant to this Chapter.

9. “Personal wireless services” means commercial mobile services,
unlicensed wireless services, and common carrier wireless exchange access services.

10. “Person” includes corporations, companies, associations, joint stock
companies, firms, partnerships, limited liability companies, other entities, and individuals.

11. “Public right-of-way” or “right-of-way” means land acquired or dedicated

for public roads and streets but does not include:

ab. Land dedicated for road, streets, and highways not opened and not

improved for motor vehicle use by the public;

b. Structures, including poles and conduits, located within the right-of-way;

c. Federally granted trust lands or forest board trust lands;

d. Lands owned or managed by the state parks and recreation commission;

or

e. Federally granted railroad rights-of-way acquired under 43 U.S.C. 912 and

related provisions of federal law that are not open for motor vehicle use.

12. “Service provider” shall be defined in accord with RCW 35.99.010(6).

“Service provider’” shall include those infrastructure companies that provide

telecommunications services or equipment to enable the construction of wireless

communication facilities.

13. “Small wireless facility” shall be defined as provided in 47 CFR 1.6002(l).

14. “Stealth Technique” means stealth techniques specifically designated as

such at the time of the original approval of the wireless communication facility for the

purposes of rendering the appearance of the wireless communication facility as something

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 7 of 47

47



fundamentally different than a wireless communication facility including but not limited to
the use of nonreflective materials, appropriate colors, and/or a concealment canister.

15. “Structure” means a pole, tower, base station, or other building, whether or
not it has an existing antenna equipment, that is used or to be used for the provision of
personal wireless service (on its own or commingled with other types of services).

16. “Telecommunications service” shall be defined in accord with RCW

35.99.010(7).

17. “Tower” means any structure built for the sole or primary purpose of
supporting any FCC-licensed or authorized antennas and their associated facilities,
including structures that are constructed for wireless communication services including, but
not limited to, private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as unlicensed wireless
services, and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul and the associated site.

18. “Traffic signal pole” means any structure designed and used primarily for
support of traffic signal displays and equipment, whether for vehicular or nonmotorized
users.

19. “Transmission equipment” means equipment that facilitates transmission for
any FCC-licensed or authorized wireless communication service, including, but not limited
to, radio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or fiber-optic cable, and regular and backup power
supply. The term includes equipment associated with wireless communication services
including, but not limited to, private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as
unlicensed wireless services and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul.

20. “Unified enclosure” means a small wireless facility providing concealment of
antennas and equipment within a single enclosure.

21. “Utility pole” means a structure designed and used primarily for the support
of electrical wires, telephone wires, television cable, or lighting for streets, parking lots, or

pedestrian paths.

22. “Wireless communications facilities” or “WCF” means facilities used for
personal wireless services.

23. “Wireline” means services provided using a physically tangible means of
transmission including, without limitation, wire or cable, and the apparatus used for such
transmission.

18.58.0540 General pProvisions.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 8 of 47

48



——A.__-No person may place, construct or modify a wireless communication facility
subject to this Chapter without first having in place a permit issued in accordance with this
Chapter. Except as otherwise provided herein, the requirements of TMC Chapter 18.100,
18.104 and 18.108 do not apply to this TMC Chapter 18.58. ofthis-Chapterare-in-addition

te-the-applicable-requirements-of FTMC-Title—18-

B. —G-Macro facilities, as defined in TMC 18.58.040, are allowed in zones consistent
with TMC 18.58.060(F) and require a macro facility permit pursuant to TMC 18.58.020.

C. —D-Small wireless facilities, as defined in TMC 18.58.040 are permitted uses
throughout the city but still require a small wireless facility permit pursuant to TMC
18.58.020.Small wireless facilities located within the City’s rights-of-way require a valid

franchise.

D. ——E-No provision of this Chapter shall be interpreted to allow the installation of a
wireless communication facility to reduce the minimum parking or landscaping on a site.

——GE.  Third Party-Expert- Review—Applicants use various methodologies and

analyses, including geographically-based computer software, to determine the specific
technical parameters of the services to be provided utilizing the proposed wireless
communication facilities, such as expected coverage area, antenna configuration, capacity,
and topographic constraints that affect signal paths. In certain instances, a third party
expert may be needed to review the engineering and technical data submitted by an
applicant for a permit. The City may at its discretion require an engineering and technical
review as part of a permitting process. Thel reasonable costs actually incurred by the City

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 9 of 47

49



for such ef-the-technical review shall be borne by the applicant, provided that the City
provides to the applicant an itemized accounting of the costs actually charged by said third

party reviewer and incurred by the Citv.‘ | Commented [3]: Crown Castle — Proposed revision that
City accepted.

Extent — neutral 3 party reviews are allowed but carriers
don’t bear the cost.

Commented [EFM4]: Verizon — Why did City delete this
section?

~ | Commented [5]: Industry correctly pointed out that a city
code provision cannot bind Superior Court and that this
section should be deleted because the standard of review is
set by state law.

——F. Appeals. Appeals related to wireless communication facilities shall be filed in King

County superior court lor in a court of competent jurisdiction. \ | Commented [EFM6]: Crown Castle — proposed revision
that City accepted.

H. Permit Revocation — Suspension — Denial. A permit issued under this Chapter may be
revoked, suspended or denied for any one or more of the following reasons:

1. Failure to comply with any federal, state, or local laws or regulations.

2. Failure to comply with the terms and conditions imposed by the City on
the issuance of a permit.

3. When the permit was procured by fraud, false representation, or omission
of material facts.

4. Failure to comply with federal standards for RF emissions.

18.58.0650_Macro facilities. Fypes-of Permits—Priority—-Restrictions:

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 10 of 47

50



City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 11 of 47

TABLE A

Type of Permit Required, Based on
Type of Wireless Communication Facility

Zoning( 1)
Type of Facility Residential | Commercial | Industrial
Adding antennas o Type 1@ Type 12 Type 1@
an existing tower or utility
pole
Eligible facilities Type 1 Type 1 Type 1
maodification
Utility pole co-location Type 2 Type 2 Type 2
Concealed building Type 2881 Type 263 Type 1
attached
[ Mor=conceaied building [ Type 2 Type 2 Typet
attached
New tower or height Type 31 Type 3 Type 3
adjustment request

' Zoning for any private/public property or right-of-way:
Residential - LDR, MDR, or HOR.

Commercial - O, MUD, RCC, NCC, RC, RCM, TUC, CILI or

TVS.

Industrial - LI, HI, MICIL, o MIC/H.

@ Provided the height of the tower or utility pole does notincrease
and the square footage of the enclosure area does not

increase.

B An applicant may reguest to install a non-concealed building
attached facility, under TMC Section 13.58.140.

#  MDR and HDR only.




City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 12 of 47

52



In order to manage the City in a thoughtful manner which balances the need to

accommodate new and evolving technologies with the preservation of the natural and
aesthetic environment of the City, the City of Tukwila has adopted this administrative
process for the deployment of macro facilities. Applicants are encouraged and
expected to provide all related applications listed in TMC 18.58.060(A) below for each
facility in one submittal unless they have already obtained a franchise or lease.

A. Required applications. The Director is authorized to establish application forms to
gather the information required by City ordinances from applicants.

1. Franchise. If any portion of the applicant’s facilities are to be located in the right-
of-way, the applicant shall apply for, and receive, a franchise consistent with
TMC 11.32. An applicant with a franchise for the deployment of macro facilities in
the City may apply directly for a macro facility permit and related approvals.

2. Macro Facility Permits. The applicant shall submit a macro facility permit
application as required by TMC 18.58.020. Prior to the issuance of a macro
facility permit, the applicant shall pay a permit fee in an amount as determined
by the City Council and adopted by resolution, or the actual costs incurred by the
City in reviewing such permit application.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 13 of 47

53



3.

Associated Permit(s) and Checklist(s). The applicant shall attach all associated

required permit applications including but not limited to applications required
under TMC 11.08, and applications or check lists required under the City’s
Critical Areas, Shoreline or SEPA ordinances.

Leases. An applicant who desires to place a macro facility on City property

B. Macro

outside the right-of-way or attach a macro facility to any structure owned by the
City shall include an application for a lease as a component of its application.
Leases for the use of public property, structures, or facilities shall be submitted to
the City Council for approval.

facility application requirements.

1. A pre-application meeting is encouraged prior to submitting an application for a

macro facility permit.

2. The following information shall be provided by all applicants for a macro facility

ermit:

The name, address, phone number and authorized signature on behalf of the

applicant;

If the proposed site is not owned by the City, the name, address and phone

number of the owner and a signed document or lease confirming that the
applicant has the owner’s permission to apply for permits to construct the macro
facility;

A statement identifying the nature and operation of the macro facility;

A vicinity sketch showing the relationship of the proposed use to existing streets,

structures and surrounding land uses, and the location of any nearby bodies of
water, wetlands, critical areas or other significant natural or manmade features;

Construction drawings as well as a plan of the proposed use showing proposed

streets, structures, land uses, open spaces, parking areas, fencing, pedestrian
paths and trails, buffers, and landscaping, along with text identifying the
proposed use(s) of each structure or area included on the plan;

Photo simulations of the proposed macro facility from public rights-of-way, public

properties and affected residentially zoned properties. Photo simulations must
include all cable, conduit and/or ground-mounted equipment necessary for and
intended for use in the deployment regardless of whether the additional facilities
are to be constructed by a third party;

A sworn affidavit signed by an RF engineer with knowledge of the proposed

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code

Page 14 of 47

54

project affirming that the macro facility will be compliant with all FCC and other
governmental regulations in connection with human exposure to radio frequency

Update



emissions for every frequency at which the facility will operate. If facilities that
generate RF radiation necessary to the macro facility are to be provided by a
third party, then the permit shall be conditioned on an RF certification showing
the cumulative impact of the RF emissions on the entire installation;

h. Information necessary to demonstrate the applicant’'s compliance with FCC
rules, regulations and requirements which are applicable to the proposed macro
facility;

i. If not proposing a collocation, then documentation showing that the applicant has
made a reasonable attempt to find a collocation site acceptable to engineering
standards and that co-locating was not technically feasible or that it posed a

physical problem;

i. Information sufficient to establish compliance with TMC 18.58.060(F) and TMC
18.58.060(G).

k. If proposing a new monopole/tower, information sufficient to establish
compliance with TMC 18.58.070(B).

|. Such additional information as deemed necessary by the Director for proper
review of the application, and which is sufficient to enable the Director to make a
fully informed decision pursuant to the requirements of this Chapter.

C. Macro facility permit review procedures.

1.

Completeness. An application for a macro facility is not complete until the applicant

has submitted all the applicable items required by TMC Section 18.58.060(B) and to
the extent relevant, has submitted all the applicable items in TMC Section
18.58.060(A) and the city has confirmed that the application is complete.

. Public Notice. The City shall provide notice of a complete application for a macro

facility permit on the City’s website with a link to the application. Prior to
construction, the applicant shall provide notice of construction to all impacted
property owners within 100 feet of any proposed wireless facility via a doorhanger
that shall include an email contact and telephone number for the applicant. Notice is
for the public’s information and is not a part of a hearing or part of the land use
appeal process.

Review. The Director shall review the application for conformance with the

application requirements in this Chapter and specifically the review criteria in TMC
18.58.060(D) to determine whether the application is consistent with this Chapter.

Decision. The Director will issue a decision in writing. The Director may grant a

permit, grant the permit with conditions pursuant to this chapter and the code, or
deny the permit.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 15 of 47

95



Any condition reasonably required to enable the proposed use to meet the

standards of this chapter and code may be imposed.

If no reasonable condition(s) can be imposed that ensure the application meets

C.

such requirements, the application shall be denied.

The Director’s decision is final.

D. Macro facility review criteria.

1. No application for a macro facility may be approved unless all of the following

criteria, as applicable, are satisfied:

a.

The proposed use will be served by adequate public facilities including roads,

and fire protection.

The proposed use will not be materially detrimental to uses or property in the

immediate vicinity of the subject property and will not materially disturb persons
in the use and enjoyment of their property.

The proposed use will not be materially detrimental to the public health, safety

and welfare.

The proposed use complies with this Chapter and all other applicable provisions

of this code.

2. The Director shall review the application for conformance with the following

criteria:

a.

Compliance with prioritized locations pursuant to TMC 18.58.060(F).

b.

Compliance with development standards pursuant to TMC 18.58.060(G).

E. Macro facility permit requirements.

1. The permittee shall comply with all of the requirements within the macro facility

ermit.

2. The permittee shall allow collocation of proposed macro facilities on the permittees’

site, unless the permittee demonstrates that collocation will impair the technical

operation of the existing macro facilities to a substantial degree.

City of Tukwila

Wireless Code Update

Page 16 of 47

56



3. The permittee shall notify the City of any sale, transfer, assignment of a macro
facility within sixty (60) days of such event.

4. All installations of macro facilities shall comply with any governing construction or
electrical code including the National Electrical Safety Code, the National Electric
Code or state electrical code, as applicable.

5. Amacro facility permit issued under this chapter must be substantially implemented

within 42 24 months from the date of final approval or the permit shall expire. The | commented [EFM7]: AT&T — proposed revision that City
permittee may request one (1) extension to be limited to twelve (12) months, if the accepted.

applicant cannot construct the macro facility within the original 42 24-month period.

6. Site safety and maintenance. The permittee shall maintain the macro facilities in
safe and working condition. The permittee shall be responsible for the removal of
any graffiti or other vandalism and shall keep the site neat and orderly, including but
not limited to following any maintenance or modifications on the site.

F. Macro facility location hierarchy. Macro facilities shall be located in the following
prioritized order of preference:

1. Collocated on existing macro facility(ies) or another existing public facility/utility
facility (i.e., existing or replacement utility pole or an existing monopole/tower).

2. Collocated on existing buildings and structures located in nonresidential zones.

3. Collocated on existing building and structures in residential zones not used for
single-family residential uses (e.g. religious facility or public facility, or multifamily

building). ‘ | Commented [EFM8]: AT&T — proposed revision that City
accepted.

4. New monopole/tower proposed in an industrial, commercial, or business zone
district, where the sole purpose is for wireless communication facilities; provided that
approval for new monopole/tower is given pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.070. Said
monopole/tower shall be the minimum height necessary to serve the target area but in
no event may it exceed the height requirements of the underlying zoning district by
more than ten (10) feet; however, the monopole/tower shall be designed to allow
extensions to accommodate the future collocation of additional antennas and support
equipment. Further, the monopole/tower shall comply with the setback requirements of
the commercial or business zone districts, as applicable. In no case shall the
monopole/tower be of a height that requires illumination by the Federal Aviation
Administration (FAA).

5. New monopole/tower proposed in a residential zone district, where the sole
purpose is for wireless communications, but only if the applicant can establish that the
monopole/tower cannot be collocated on an existing facility or structure and receives
approval pursuant to TMC 18.58.070. Further, the proposed monopole/tower shall be
no higher than the minimum height necessary to serve the target area but in no event

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 17 of 47

57



may it exceed the height requirements of the underlying zoning district by more than

ten (10) feet; however, the structure shall be designed to allow extensions to

accommodate the future collocation of additional antennas and support equipment. In

no case shall the antenna be of a height that requires illumination by the FAA.

G. Macro facility design and concealment standards. All macro facilities shall be

constructed or installed according to the following standards:

1. Macro facilities must comply with applicable FCC, Federal Aviation Administration

(FAA), state, and city requlations and standards.

2. Antennas shall be located, mounted and designed so that visual and aesthetic

impacts upon surrounding land uses and structures are minimized, and so that they

blend into the existing environment.

from residential- views and city right-of-way.

4-3. Macro facilities must be screened or camouflaged employing the best available
techniques, such as compatible materials, non-glare paint, location, color, artificial
trees and hollow flagpoles, and other tactics to minimize visibility of the facility from
public streets and residential properties.

a. Macro facilities shall be designed and placed or installed on a site in a manner
that takes maximum advantage of existing trees, mature vegetation, and structures
by:

i. Using existing site features to screen the macro facility from
residential properties and the right-of-way; and

il Using existing or new site features as a background in a way that
helps the macro facility blends into the background.

b. As a condition of permit approval, the City may require the applicant to
supplement existing trees and mature vegetation within its screened area to screen

the facility.

C. A macro facility shall be painted either in a nonreflective color or in a color
scheme appropriate to the background against which the macro facility would be
viewed from a majority of points within its viewshed, and in either case the color
must be approved by the City as part of permit approval.

d. Macro facilities may be subject to additional screening requirements by the
Director to mitigate visual impacts to adjoining properties or public right-of-way as
determined by site-specific conditions.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 18 of 47

58

| Commented [EFM9]: Verizon — what kind of screening is

required?




24. If proposing to locate on a building, the macro facility shall meet the height
requirements of underlying zoning category; provided the macro facility may exceed
the height requirements by ten (10) feet so long as the macro facility is shrouded or

screened. \ | Commented [EFM10]: Verizon & AT&T — proposed
allowing an additional 10 feet above building and the City
3.5.|If proposing to locate on a replacement utility pole, the height of the replacement accepted.

pole shall not exceed ten-{10) fifteen (15) feet taller than the existing pole and may not
be greater than 50 feet tall in residential zones. Within all other zones, the height of the
replacement utility pole shall not exceed 10 feet taller than the height requirements of
the underlying zone. ‘ B /{Commented [11]: Verizon & AT&T — proposed allowing }

for 15 feet i_nstead qf_ 10 feet in residential zones. City
6. The use of a utility pole for siting of a macro facility shall be considered secondary accepted with conditions.
to the primary function of the pole. If the primary function of the pole serving as the
host site of the macro facility becomes unnecessary, the pole shall not be retained for
the sole purpose of accommodating the macro facility and the macro facility and all

associated equipment shall be removed.

4-7. Equipment facilities shall be placed underground if applicable, or, if permitted
above ground, shall:

a. Be screened from any street and adjacent property with fencing, walls,
landscaping, structures or topography or a combination thereof or placed
within a building; and

b. Not be located within required building setback areas.

5-8. If a security barrier is installed that includes a fence, wall or similar freestanding
structure, the following shall apply:

a. The height of the barrier shall be restricted by the height limitations in the
zoning district. The height is measured from the point of existing or finished
grade, whichever is lower at the exterior side of the barrier to the highest
point of the barrier.

b. Be screened from adjoining properties and city right-of-way through the
use of appropriate landscaping materials including:

i. Placement of landscape vegetation around the perimeter of the
security barrier, except that a maximum 10-foot portion of the fence
may remain without landscaping in order to provide access to the
enclosure.

ii. The landscaping area shall be a minimum of 5 feet in width.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 19 of 47

59



iii. The permittee shall utilize evergreen plants that shall be a minimum
of 6 feet tall at the time of planting and shall obscure the site within 2

years.

iv. Landscaping and the design of the barrier shall be compatible with
other nearby landscaping, fencing and freestanding walls.

v. If a chain link fence is allowed in the zone district, it shall be green
vinyl slats.

6-9. Sufficient space for temporary parking for reqular maintenance of the proposed
macro facility must be demonstrated.

7#10.  Macro facilities may not (i) produce noise in excess of the limitation set forth in
TMC Chapter 6.04; and (ii) be used for mounting signs, billboards or message displays
of any kind.

11. The Director shall consider the cumulative visual effects of macro facilities
mounted on existing structures and/or located on a given permitted site in determining
whether the additional permits can be granted so as to not adversely affect the visual
character of the city.

18.58.0760 New Towers.

AB. Applicability. Any application for a new macro facility tower shall be reviewed, and

approved or denied, by the Hearing Examiner as a Type 3 decision pursuant to TMC
18.108.030.

Review Criterial The Hearing Examiner shall be-the reviewing body-on-thereview the

| Cc ted [12]: Verizon and A&T — proposed revisions

appllcatlon to construct a new macro facility tower, and shall determine whether or—not
each of the abeve—followmg requwements are met: —l%eamples—ef—ewdenee

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 20 of 47

60

that the City accepted.




14.That collocation is not feasible because:

a. existing structures or towers do not have sufficient structural strength to
support the applicant's proposed antenna and ancillary facilities;

b5._ That the applicant's proposed antenna would cause electromagnetic
interference with the antenna on the existing towers or structures, or the antenna on
the existing structures would cause interference with the applicant's proposed antenna;

c6. That the fees, costs or contractual provisions required by the owner
or operator in order to share an existing tower or structure, or to locate at an alternative
site, or to adapt an existing tower or structure or alternative site for sharing, are
unreasonable. Costs exceeding new tower construction by 25% are presumed to be
unreasonable; or

d#. The applicant demonstrates other limiting factors that render existing towers
and structures or other sites unsuitable. All engineering evidence must be provided and
certified by a registered and qualified professional engineer and clearly demonstrate the
evidence required.

5. The proposed tower meets all applicable design standards in TMC 18.58.060.

6. Where the proposed tower does not comply with the requirements of this Chapter,
the applicant has successfully demonstrated that denial of the application would effectively
prohibit the provision of service in violation of 47 USC 253 and/or 332.

BE. Determination. The Hearing Examiner, after holding an open public hearing_ in
accordance with TMC Chapter 18.112, shall either approve, approve with conditions,
or deny the application,- er—remand—the—application—back to—staffforfurther

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 21 of 47

61



City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 22 of 47

62



Wireless Code Update

Page 23 of 47

63



City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 24 of 47

64



City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 25 of 47

65



City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 26 of 47

66



City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 27 of 47

67



18.58.0480 Removal of Abandoned Wireless Communication Facilities.

Any antenna-or-towerwireless communication facility that, after the initial operation of the
facility, is not used for the purpose for which it was intended at the time of filing of the
application for a continuous period of 12 months shall be considered abandoned, and the
owner of such artenna-ertowerfacility shall remove same within 90 days of receipt of notice
from the City notifying the owner of such abandonment. Failure to remove such abandoned
tower-facility shall result in declaring the antenna-and/ortewerfacility a public nuisance. If
there are two or more users of a single tower, then this section shall not become effective
until all users cease using the tower.

18.58.2090 Standardsfor-Eligible Facilities MedificatiorsReguests.

A. Under 47 USC 1455 and relevant FCC regulations (see 47 CFR §1.6100), a local
jurisdiction must approve a modification of a wireless facility qualifying as an eligible facility
request. Accordingly, the city adopts the following provisions for review of applications for

eligible faC|I|ty requests as defined by thls chapter and federal law. Iheseet&enm»plements

B. Definitions.
1. “Base station” shall mean and refer to the structure or equipment at a fixed
location that enables wireless communications licensed or authorized by the FCC,
between user equipment and a communications network. The term does not
encompass a tower as defined in this chapter or any equipment associated with a
tower. Base station includes without limitation:
a. The-term-includes;-butis-not-limited-to,-Eequipment associated with wireless
commumcatlons serwces seeha&pr%ate%reaeleas%and#%bl%saﬁety%e#wees@s

baekhau«lreqardless of technoloqlcal conflquratlon (lncludlnq dlstrlbuted antenna

systems (“DAS”) and small wireless facilities).

b. Fheterm-includes, butis-retlimited-to-Rradio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or
fiber-optic cable, regular and backup power supplies, and comparable equipment,
regardless of technological configuration (including Bistributed—Antenna
SystemsDAS and small -eel-networkswireless facilities).

c. The-term-includes-aAny structure other than a tower that, at the time an eligible
facilities modification application is filed with the City under this chapter, supports or
houses equipment described in subparagraphs (a) and (b) of TMC Section
18.58.090.B, and that has been reviewed and approved under the applicable zoning
or siting process, or under another State, county or local regulatory review process,

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 28 of 47

68



even if the structure was not built for the sole or primary purpose of providing such
support.
d. The term does not include any structure that, at the time a completed eligible
facilities modification application is filed with the City under this section, does not
support or house equipment described in subparagraphs (a) and (b) of TMC Section
18.58.090.B.
2. “Collocation” shall mean the mounting or installing of transmission equipment on
an eligible support structure for the purpose of transmitting and/or receiving radio
frequency signals for communication purposes.
3. “Eligible facilities medificationrequest” shall mean any request for modification of
an_existing tower or base station that does not substantially change the physical
dimensions of such tower or base station, involving:
(i) Collocation of new transmission equipment;
(i) Removal of transmission equipment; or
(i) Replacement of transmission equipment.and-refer-to-any-proposed-facilities

43. “Eligible support structure” shall mean and refer to any existing tower or base
station as defined in this chapter provided it is in existence at the time the eligible
facilities modification application is filed with the City under this chapter.

54. “Existing” shall mean and refer to a constructed tower or base station that was
reviewed and approved under the applicable zoning or siting process and lawfully
constructed; provided, that a tower that has not been reviewed and approved because
it was notin a zoned area when it was built, but was lawfully constructed, is existing for

6. “Site” shall mean and refer to the current boundaries of the leased or owned
property surrounding a tower (other than a tower in the public rights-of-way) and any
access or utility easements currently related to the site and, for other eligible support
structures, shall mean and be further restricted to, that area in proximity to the structure
and to other transmission equipment already deployed on the ground._The current
boundaries of a site are the boundaries that existed as of the date that the original

support structure or a modification to that structure was last reviewed and approved by
a state or local government, if the approval of the modification occurred prior to the
Spectrum Act or otherwise outside of the Section 6409(a) process.

7. “Substantial Change”. A propesed-facilities-modification will substantially change
the physical dimensions of an eligible support structure if it meets any of the following
criteria:

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 29 of 47



a. For towers not in the public rights-of-way, it increases the height of the tower by
more than 10% or by the height of one additional antenna array with separation from
the nearest existing antenna not to exceed 20 feet, whichever is greater; for other
eligible support structures, it increases the height of the structure by more than 10%
or more than 10 feet, whichever is greater. [The separation of antennas is measured
by the distance from the top of the existing antennas to the bottom of the new

antennas.\
Changes in height should be measured from the original support structure in cases
where deployments are or will be separated horizontally, such as on buildings’
rooftops; in other circumstances, changes in height should be measured from the
dimensions of the tower or base station, inclusive of originally approved
appurtenances and any modifications that were approved prior to the passage of the
Spectrum Act.
b. For towers not in the public rights-of-way, it involves adding an appurtenance to
the body of the tower that would protrude from the edge of the tower more than 20
feet, or more than the width of the tower structure at the level of the appurtenance,
whichever is greater; for other eligible support structures, it involves adding an
appurtenance to the body of the structure that would protrude from the edge of the
structure by more than 6 feet.
c. For any eligible support structure, it involves installation of more than the standard
number of new equipment cabinets for the technology involved, but not to exceed 4
cabinets; or, for towers in the public rights-of-way and base stations, it involves
installation of any new equipment cabinets on the ground if there are no pre-existing
ground cabinets associated with the structure, or else involves installation of ground
cabinets that are more than 10% larger in height or overall volume than any other
ground cabinets associated with the structure.
d. For any eligible support structure:
(1) it entails any excavation or deployment outside the current site; except that, for
towers other than towers in the public rights-of-way, it entails any excavation or
deployment of transmission equipment outside of the current site by more than 30
feet in_any direction. The site boundary from which the 30 feet is measured
excludes any access or utility easements currently related to the site;
(2) it would defeat the concealment elements of the eligible support structure; or
(3) it does not comply with conditions associated with the siting approval of the
construction or modification of the eligible support structure or base station
equipment provided, however, that this limitation does not apply to any
modification that is non-compliant only in a manner that would not exceed the
thresholds identified in this section.
8. “Tower” shall mean and refer to any structure built for the sole or primary purpose
of supporting any antennas and their associated facilities, licensed or authorized by the
FCC, including structures that are constructed for wireless communications services
including, but not limited to, private, broadcast, and public safety services, as well as
unlicensed wireless services and fixed wireless services such as microwave backhaul,
and the associated site.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 30 of 47

70

Commented [13]: Verizon - proposed revision that City
accepted.




9. “Transmission Equipment” shall mean and refer to equipment that facilitates
transmission for any wireless communication service licensed or authorized by the
FCC, including, but not limited to, radio transceivers, antennas, coaxial or fiber-optic
cable, and regular and backup power supply. The term includes equipment associated
with wireless communications services including, but not limited to, private, broadcast,
and public safety services, as well as unlicensed wireless services and fixed wireless
services such as microwave backhaul.

Applrcatron The Drrector shall prepare
and make publicly available an application form that shall be limited to the information
necessary for the city to consider whether an application is an eligible facilities request. The
application may not require the applicant to demonstrate a need or business case for the
proposed modification.

D. Qualification as an eligible facilities request. Upon receipt of an application for an eligible
facilities request, the Ddirector shall review such application to determine whether the
application qualifies as an eligible facilities request.

E. Time frame for review. Applications for an eligible facilities request are reviewed by the
Director or his/her designee, who will approve the application within 60 days of the date an
applicant submits an eligible facilities request application, unless the Director determines

that the applrcatron does not quallfv under FWRC 19.257.020. Grty—eleersreas—en—ehg@e

FE. Tolling the time frame for review. The 60-day review period begins to run when the
application is filed and may be tolled only by mutual agreement by the city and the applicant
or in cases where the city determines that the application is incomplete. The time frame for
review of an eligible facilities request is not tolled by a moratorium on the review of

applications.

1. To toll the time frame for incompleteness, the city shall provide written notice to the
applicant within 30 days of receipt of the application, clearly and specifically delineating
all missing documents or information required in the application land including a citation
to the publicly stated code provision requiring such information. The City recognizes
that such a notice is limited to information “reasonably related” to determining whether

the application meets the “eligible facilities request” requirements. | Commented [14]: Crown Castle — proposed revision that
2. The time frame for review begins running again when the applicant makes a City accepted.

supplemental submission in response to the city’s notice of incompleteness.

3. Following a supplemental submission, the city will notify the applicant within 10 days
if the supplemental submission did not provide the information identified in the original
notice delineating missing information. The time frame is tolled in the case of second or
subsequent notices pursuant to the procedures identified in this subsection. Second or
subsequent notice of incompleteness may not specify missing documents or

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 31 of 47

71



information that were not delineated in the original notice of incompleteness.fthe-City

determines that the applicant’ s request does not qualify as an eligible facilities request,

the city shall deny the application.

H. Failure to act. In the event the City fails to approve or deny an eligible facilities request
within the time frame for review (accounting for any tolling), the request shall be deemed
granted. The deemed grant does not become effective until the applicant notifies the city in
writing after the review period has expired (accounting for any tolling) that the application
has been deemed granted.

|. Appeals. Applicants and the City may bring claims related to Section 6409 (a) of the
Spectrum Act, 47 USC 1455(a) to any court of competent jurisdiction.

18.58.100 Small wireless facility application process

A. Applicability. Any applications for small wireless facilities either inside or outside
of the public right-of-way shall comply with the application requirements for a small wireless
facility permit described in this chapter. For small wireless facilities inside the right-of-way,
the applicant must also comply with the requirements pursuant to TMC Chapter 11.32.

B. Completeness. An application for a small wireless facility is not complete until the
applicant has submitted all the applicable items required by TMC Section 18.58.110 and, to
the extent relevant, has submitted all the applicable items in TMC Section 18.58.100.C and
the City has confirmed that the application is complete. Franchisees with a valid franchise
for small wireless facilities may apply for a small wireless permit for the initial or additional
phases of a small wireless facilities deployment at any time subject to the commencement
of a new completeness review time period for permit processing.

C. Application Components. The Director is authorized to establish franchise and
other application forms to gather the information required from applicants to evaluate the
application and to determine the completeness of the application as provided herein. The
application shall include the following components as applicable:

1. Franchise. If any portion of the applicant’s facilities are to be located in the
City’s right-of-way, the applicant shall apply for, and receive approval of a franchise,
consistent with the requirements in TMC Chapter 11.32. An application for a franchise may
be submitted concurrently with an application for small wireless facility permit(s).

2. Small Wireless Facility Permit. The applicant shall submit a small wireless
facility permit application as required in the small wireless facility application requirements
established in TMC Section 18.58.110 and pay the applicable permit fee as set forth in the

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 32 of 47

72



fee schedule adopted by resolution of the City Council and which may be amended by the
City Council from time to time.

3. Associated Application(s) and Checklist(s). Any application for a small
wireless permit which contains an element not categorically exempt from SEPA review shall
simultaneously apply under Chapter 43.21C RCW and TMC Title 21. Further, any
application proposing small wireless facilities in a shoreline area (pursuant to TMC Chapter
18.44) or an environmentally sensitive area (pursuant to TMC Chapter 18.45) shall indicate
why the application is exempt or comply with the review processes in such codes.
Applications for small wireless facilities for new poles shall comply with the requirements in
TMC Section 18.58.160.E.

4. Leases. An applicant who desires to attach a small wireless facility on any
utility pole, light pole, or other structure or building owned by the City shall obtain a lease as
a component of its application. City owned utility poles and the use of other public property,
structures or facilities including, but not limited to any park land or facility, require City
Council approval of a lease or master lease agreement.

18.58.110 Small wireless facility application requirements

The following information shall be provided by all applicants for a small wireless permit.

A. The application shall provide specific locational information including GIS
coordinates of all proposed small wireless facilities and specify where the small wireless
facilities will utilize existing, replacement or new poles, towers, existing buildings and/or
other structures. The applicant shall specify ground-mounted equipment, conduit, junction
boxes and fiber and power connections necessary for and intended for use in the small
wireless facilities system regardless of whether the additional facilities are to be constructed
by the applicant or leased from a third party. The applicant shall provide detailed
schematics and visual renderings of the small wireless facilities, including engineering and
design standards. The application shall have sufficient detail to identify:

1. The location of overhead and, to the extent applicable, underground public
utilities, telecommunication, cable, water, adjacent lighting, sewer drainage and other lines
and equipment within 50 feet of the proposed project area (which project area shall include
the location of the fiber source and power source). Further, the applicant shall include all
existing and proposed improvements related to the proposed location, including but not
limited to poles, driveways, ADA ramps, equipment cabinets, street trees and structures
within 50 feet of the proposed project area.

2. The specific trees, structures, improvements, facilities, lines and equipment,
and obstructions, if any, that applicant proposes to temporarily or permanently remove or
relocate and a landscape plan for protecting, trimming, removing, replacing, and restoring
any trees or significant landscaping to be disturbed during construction. The applicant is
discouraged from cutting/pruning, removing or replacing trees, and if any such tree

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 33 of 47

73



modifications are proposed the applicant must comply with applicable provisions of TMC
Chapter 11.20 and Chapter 18.54.

3 The applicant’s plan for fiber and power service, all conduits, cables, wires,
handholes, junctions, meters, disconnect switches and any other ancillary equipment or
construction necessary to construct the small wireless facility, to the extent to which the
applicant is responsible for installing such fiber and power service, conduits, cables, and
related improvements. Where another party is responsible for installing such fiber and
power service, conduits, cables, and related improvements, applicant’s construction
drawings shall include such utilities to the extent known at the time of application, but at a
minimum applicant must indicate how it expects to obtain power and fiber service to the
small wireless facility.

4. |A photometric analysis of the roadway and sidewalk within 150 feet of the
existing light if the site location includes a new light pole or replacement light pole if in a

new location-pele]

5. Compliance with the applicable aesthetic requirements pursuant to TMC
Section 18.58.150 and 18.58.160.

B. The applicant must show written approval, or conditional approval that pole owner

n

Commented [EFM15]: Crown Castle and AT&T propose
only requiring a photometric analysis if the replacement pole
is in a different location.

|

approves if City also approves, from the owner of any pole or structure for the installation of

its small wireless facilities on such pole or structure. Such written approval shall include

|

Commented [16]: Crown Castle — proposed revision that
City accepted.

|

approval of the specific pole, engineering and design specifications for the pole, as well as
assurances that the specific pole can withstand wind and seismic loads as well as
assurances in accordance with TMC Section 18.58.110.F, from the pole owner, unless the
pole owner is the City. For City-owned poles or structures, the applicant shall obtain a
lease from the City prior to or concurrent with the small wireless facility permit application
so the City can evaluate the use of a specific pole.

C. The applicant is encouraged to batch the small wireless facility sites within an
application in a contiguous service area and/or with similar designs.

D. The applicant shall submit a sworn affidavit signed by a Radio Frequency (RF)
engineer with knowledge of the proposed project affirming that the small wireless facility will
be compliant with all FCC and other governmental regulations in connection with human
exposure to radio frequency emissions for every frequency at which the small wireless
facility will operate. If facilities that generate RF radiation necessary to the small wireless
facility are to be provided by a third party, then the small wireless permit shall be
conditioned on an RF certification showing the cumulative impact of the RF emissions from
the entire installation. The applicant may provide one emissions report for the entire batch
of small wireless facility applications if the applicant is using the same small wireless facility
configuration for all installations within that batch or may submit one emissions report for
each subgroup installation identified in the batch.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 34 of 47

74



E. The applicant shall provide proof of FCC or other regulatory approvals required to
provide the service(s) or utilize the technologies sought to be installed, if such approvals

are required ‘ ~ | Commented [17]: Crown Castle - proposed revision that
City accepted because some newer networks do not require
FCC “approvals”

F. A professional engineer licensed by the State of Washington shall certify in writing,
over his or her seal, that construction plans of the small wireless facilities and structure or
pole and foundation are designed to reasonably withstand wind and seismic loads as
required by applicable codes.

G. Those elements that are typically contained in the right-of-way permit pursuant to
TMC chapter 11.08, including a traffic control plan, to allow the applicant to proceed with
the build-out of the small wireless facility.

H. Proof of a valid City of Tukwila business license.

. Recognizing that small wireless facility technology is rapidly evolving, the Director
is authorized to adopt and publish standards for the structural safety of City-owned poles
and structures, and to formulate and publish application questions for use when an
applicant seeks to attach to City-owned poles and structures.

J. Such other information as the Director, in his/her reasonable discretion, shall deem
appropriate to effectively evaluate the application based on technical, engineering and
aesthetic considerations.

18.58.120 Small wireless facility review criteria and process

A. The following provisions relate to the review of applications for a small wireless
facility permit:

1. In any zone, upon application for a small wireless permit, the City will permit
small wireless facilities only when the application meets the applicable criteria of TMC

Chapter 18.58.

2. Vertical clearance shall be reviewed by the Directorin accordance with NESC

or applicable pole safety codes to ensure the small wireless facilities will not pose ahazard ——{ commented [18]: Crown Castle — proposed revision that
to other users of the rights-of-way. City accepted.

3. Replacement poles, new poles, and ground-mounted equipment shall only be
permitted pursuant to the applicable standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.

4. No equipment shall be operated so as to produce noise in violation of TMC
Chapter 8.22.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 35 of 47

75



5. Small wireless facilities may not encroach onto or over private property or
property outside of the right-of-way without the property owner’s express written consent
pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.A.1.

B. Decision. All small wireless facility applications shall be reviewed and approved
or denied by the Director. The Director’s decision shall be final and is not subject to appeal
under City code or further review by the City.

C. Eligible Facilities Requests. Small wireless facilities may be expanded pursuant
to an eligible facility request so long as the expansion:

1. does not defeat the specifically designated stealth techniques; and

2. incorporates the aesthetic elements required as conditions of approval set
forth in the original small wireless facility approval in a manner consistent with the rights
granted an eligible facility; and

3. does not exceed the conditions of a small wireless facility as defined by 47

CFR 1.6002(1).

D. Public Notice. The City shall provide notice of a complete application for a small
wireless facility permit on the City’'s website with a link to the application. Prior to
construction, the applicant shall provide notice of construction to all impacted property
owners within 100 feet of any proposed small wireless facility via a doorhanger that shall
include an email contact and telephone number for the applicant. Notice is for the public’s
information and is not a part of a hearing or part of the land use appeal process.

E. Withdrawal. Any applicant may withdraw an application submitted at any time,
provided the withdrawal is in writing and signed by all persons who signed the original
application or their successors in interest. \When a withdrawal is received, the application
shall be deemed null and void. If such withdrawal occurs prior to the Director’s decision,
then reimbursement of fees submitted in association with said application shall be reduced
to_withhold the amount of actual and objectively reasonable City costs incurred in
processing the application prior to time of withdrawal. If such withdrawal is not
accomplished prior to the Director’s decision, there shall be no refund of all or any portion
of such fee.

F. Supplemental Information. Failure of an applicant to provide supplemental
information as requested by the Director within 69 90 days of notice by the Director shall be
grounds for denial of that application unless an extension period has been approved by the
Director. If no extension period has been approved by the Director, the Director shall notify
the applicant in writing that the application is denied.

G. Consolidated Permit. The issuance of a small wireless permit grants authority to
construct small wireless facilities in the rights-of-way in a consolidated manner to allow the
applicant, in most situations, to avoid the need to seek duplicative approval by both the
Public Works and the Community Development departments. The general standards

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 36 of 47

76



applicable to the use of the rights-of-way described in TMC Chapter 11.08 shall apply to all
small wireless facility permits.

18.58.130 Small wireless facility permit requirements

A. Permit Compliance. The permittee shall comply with all of the requirements
within the small wireless facility permit.

B. Post-Construction As-Builts. Upon request, the permittee shall provide the City
with as-builts of the small wireless facilities within 30 days after construction of the small
wireless facility, demonstrating compliance with the permit, visual renderings submitted with
the permit application and any site photographs taken.

C. Construction Time Limit. Construction of the small wireless facility must be
completed within 12 months after the approval date by the City. The permittee may request
one extension of no more than six months, if the permittee provides an explanation as to
why the small wireless facility cannot be constructed within the original 12-month period.

D. Site Safety and Maintenance. The permittee must maintain the small wireless
facilities in safe and working condition. The permittee shall be responsible for the removal
of any graffiti or other vandalism of the small wireless facility and shall keep the site neat
and orderly, including but not limited to following any maintenance or modifications on the
site.

E. Operational Activity. The permittee shall commence operation of the small
wireless facility no later than six months after installation. The permittee may request loae

two extensions, each for an additional six-month period |if the permittee can show that such ——{ commented [EFM19]: Verizon — suggested allowing

operational activity is delayed due to inability to connect to electrical or backhaul facilities. Unt"mi_ted extension but staff recommends only two
extensions.

18.58.140 Small wireless facility modification

A. If a permittee desires to modify their small wireless facilities, including but not
limited to expanding or changing the antenna type, increasing the equipment enclosure,
placing additional pole-mounted or ground-mounted equipment, or modifying the stealth
techniques, then the permittee shall apply for a new small wireless permit.

B. A small wireless facility permit shall not be required for routine maintenance and
repair of a small wireless facility within the rights-of-way, or the replacement of an antenna
or equipment of similar size, weight, and height; provided, that such replacement does not
defeat the stealth technigues used in the original small wireless facility and does not impact
the structural integrity of the pole. Further, a small wireless facility permit shall not be
required for replacing equipment within the equipment enclosure or reconfiguration of fiber
or power to the small wireless facilities. Right-of-way use permits may be required for such
routine maintenance, repair or replacement consistent with Chapter 11.08 TMC.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 37 of 47

77



18.58.150 Decorative poles.

A. The City discourages the use or replacement of certain decorative poles for small
wireless facilities due to the aesthetic impact to the City’s streetscape. Accordingly, the
pedestrian light pole (herein referred to as “decorative poles”), designated in the City’s
Infrastructure Design _and Construction Standards, are discouraged from use or
replacement for small wireless facilities:

B. Applications for small wireless facilities attached to decorative poles shall comply
with TMC 18.58.160(F).

18.58.160 Small wireless facility aesthetic, concealment, and design standards

A. All small wireless facilities shall conform with the following general aesthetic,
concealment, and design standards, as applicable:

1. Except for locations in the right-of-way, small wireless facilities are prohibited
on any property containing a lsingle-family residential use in a residential zone; provided

that where small wireless facilities are intended to be located more than 400 feet from a

| Commented [EFM20]: AT&T - proposed revision that
City accepted

right-of-way and within an access easement over residential property, the location may be
allowed if:

a. the applicant affirms they have received an access easement from the
property owner to locate the facility in the desired location; and

b. the property owner where the facility will be installed has authority to grant
such permission to locate the facility and related equipment at the designated location
pursuant to the terms of the access easement; and

c. the installation is allowed by, and consistent with, the access easement;

and

d. such installation will not frustrate the purpose of the easement or create
any access or safety issue; and

e. thelocation is in compliance with all land use regulations such as, but not
limited to, setback requirements.

2. In the event power is later undergrounded in an area where small wireless
facilities are located above ground on utility poles, the small wireless facilities shall be
removed and may be replaced with a facility meeting the design standards for new poles in
TMC Section 18.58.160.E.

3. |Except for electrical meters with prior City approval, ground-mounted

equipment in the rights-of-way is prohibited, unless such facilities are placed underground,

| Commented [EFM21]: AT&T — proposed revision that
City accepted.

or the applicant can demonstrate that pole-mounted or undergrounded equipment is
technically infeasible. If ground-mounted equipment is necessary, then the applicant shall
submit a stealth technique plan substantially conforming to the applicable standards in TMC
Section 18.58.160.E.3 and comply with the ADA, City construction standards, and state and

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 38 of 47

78




federal regulations in order to provide a clear and safe passage within the public rights-of-
way. Generators located in the rights-of-way are prohibited.

4. No signage, message, or identification other than the manufacturer’s
identification or signage required by governing law is allowed to be portrayed on any
antenna or equipment enclosure. Any permitted signage shall be located on the equipment
enclosures and be of the minimum amount possible to achieve the intended purpose (no
larger than four by six inches); provided, that signs may be permitted as stealth techniques
technique where appropriate and safety signage as required by applicable laws,
requlations, and standards is permitted.

5. Antennas and related equipment shall not be illuminated except for security
reasons, required by a federal or state authority, or unless approved as part of the stealth
techniques requirements pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.E.3.

6. The design standards in this chapter are intended to be used solely for the
purpose of concealment and siting. Nothing contained in this chapter shall be interpreted
or applied in a manner which dictates the use of a particular technology. When strict
application of these requirements would render the small wireless facility technically
infeasible or otherwise have the effect of prohibiting wireless service, alternative forms of
aesthetic _design or concealment may be permitted which provide similar or greater
protections from negative visual impacts to the streetscape.

B. General Pole Standards. In addition to complying with the applicable general
standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A, all small wireless facilities on any type of utility pole
shall conform to the following general pole design requirements as well as the applicable
pole specific standards:

1. The preferred location of a small wireless facility on a pole is the location with
the least visible impact.

2. The City may consider the cumulative visual effects of small wireless facilities
mounted on poles within the rights-of-way when assessing proposed siting locations so as
to not adversely affect the visual character of the City. This provision shall neither be
applied to limit the number of permits issued when no alternative sites are reasonably
available nor to impose a technological requirement on the applicant.

3. Small wireless facilities are not permitted on traffic signal poles unless denial
of the siting could be a prohibition or effective prohibition of the applicant’s ability to provide
telecommunications service in violation of 47 USC 253 and 332.

4. Replacement poles and new poles shall comply with the Americans with
Disabilities Act, City construction and sidewalk clearance standards, City development
standards, City ordinances, and state and federal laws and regulations in order to provide a
clear and safe passage within the rights-of-way. Further, the location of any replacement or
new pole must: be physically possible, comply with applicable traffic warrants, not interfere
with utility or safety fixtures (e.g., fire hydrants, traffic control devices), and not adversely
affect the public welfare, health, or safety.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 39 of 47

79



5. Replacement poles shall be located as near as possible to the existing pole,

but in no event further than ften (10) feet from the existing pole. Compliance with the light

standards in the Tukwila Infrastructure and Construction Standards Manual is required and
the existing pole shall be removed.

6. Side arm mounts for antennas or equipment must be the minimum extension
necessary, and for wooden poles may be no more than 12 inches off the pole, and for
nonwooden poles no more than six inches off the pole.

7. The use of the pole for the siting of a small wireless facility shall be considered
secondary to the primary function of the pole. If the primary function of a pole serving as
the host site for a small wireless facility becomes unnecessary, the pole shall not be
retained for the sole purpose of accommodating the small wireless facility and the small
wireless facility and all associated equipment shall be removed.

C. Nonwooden Pole Design Standards. In addition to complying with the applicable
general standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B, small
wireless facilities attached to existing or replacement nonwooden poles inside or outside
the right-of-way shall conform to the following design criteria:

1. All replacement poles shall conform to the City’s standard small wireless
facility pole design(s) published in the City’s Infrastructure Design and Construction
Standards. The applicant, upon a showing that use or modification of the standard pole
design is either technically or physically infeasible, or that the modified pole design will not
comply with the City’s ADA or sidewalk clearance requirements and/or would violate
electrical or other safety standards, may deviate from the adopted standard pole design
and use the design standards as described in this TMC Section 18.58.160.C., subsections

2 through 8.

2. Antennas and the associated equipment enclosures (including disconnect
switches and other appurtenant devices) shall be fully concealed within the pole, unless
such concealment is technically infeasible, or is incompatible with the pole design, then the
antennas and associated equipment enclosures must be camouflaged to appear as an
integral part of the pole or flush-mounted to the pole, meaning no more than six inches off
of the pole, and must be the minimum size necessary for the intended purpose, not to
exceed the volumetric dimensions of small wireless facilities. If the equipment enclosure is
permitted on the exterior of the pole, the applicant is required to place the equipment
enclosure behind any banners or road signs that may be on the pole; provided, that such
location does not interfere with the operation of the banners or signs, or the small wireless

facility.
For purposes of this section, ‘incompatible with the pole design” may include a

demonstration by the applicant that the visual impact to the pole or the streetscape would
be reduced by placing the antennas and equipment exterior to the pole.

3. The farthest point of any antenna or equipment enclosure may not extend
more than 28 inches from the face of the pole.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 40 of 47

80

| Commented [22]: Carriers proposed allowing ten feet

rather than 5 feet. City accepted so long as the light
standards are followed.




4. All conduit, cables, wires, and fiber must be routed internally in the pole. Full
concealment of all conduit, cables, wires, and fiber is required within mounting brackets,
shrouds, canisters, or sleeves if attaching to exterior antennas or equipment.

5. An antenna on top of an existing pole may not extend more than 6 feet above
the height of the existing pole and the diameter may not exceed 16 inches, measured at the
top of the pole, unless the applicant can demonstrate that more space is needed. The
antennas shall be integrated into the pole design so that they appear as a continuation of
the original pole, including colored or painted to match the pole, and shall be shrouded or
screened to blend with the pole except for canister antennas, which shall not require
screening. To the extent technically feasible, all cabling and mounting hardware/brackets
from the bottom of the antenna to the top of the pole shall be fully concealed and integrated

with the pole.

6. Any replacement pole shall substantially conform to the design of the pole itis
replacing (including but not limited to color, shape and style) or the neighboring pole design
standards utilized within the contiguous right-of-way.

7. The height of any replacement pole and antenna(s) may not extend more than
10 feet above the height of the existing pole or the minimum additional height necessary;
provided, that the height of the replacement pole cannot be extended further by additional

antenna height.

8. The diameter of a replacement pole shall comply with the City’s setback and
sidewalk clearance requirements and shall, to the extent technically feasible, not be more
than a 25 percent increase of the existing pole measured at the base of the pole, unless
additional diameter is needed in order to conceal equipment within the base of the pole.

D. Wooden Pole Design Standards. In addition to complying with the applicable
general standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B, small
wireless facilities attached to existing or replacement wooden utility poles and other
wooden poles inside or outside the right-of-way shall conform to the following design
criteria:

1. The wooden pole at the proposed location may be replaced with a taller pole
for the purpose of accommodating a small wireless facility; provided, that the replacement
pole shall not exceed a height that is a maximum of 10 feet taller than the existing pole,
unless a further height increase is required and confirmed in writing by the pole owner and
that such height extension is the minimum extension possible to provide sufficient
separation and/or clearance from electrical and wireline facilities.

2. A pole extender may be used instead of replacing an existing pole, but may
not increase the height of the existing pole by more than 10 feet, unless a further height
increase is required and confirmed in writing by the pole owner and that such height

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 41 of 47

81



increase is the minimum extension possible to provide sufficient separation and/or
clearance from electrical and wireline facilities. A “pole extender” as used herein is an
object affixed between the pole and the antenna for the purpose of increasing the height of
the antenna above the pole. The pole extender shall be painted to approximately match
the color of the pole and shall substantially match the diameter of the pole measured at the

top of the pole.

3. Replacement wooden poles must either match the approximate color and
materials of the replaced pole or shall be the standard new wooden pole used by the pole
owner in the City.

4. The diameter of a replacement pole shall comply with the City’s setback and
sidewalk clearance requirements and shall not be more than a 25 percent increase of the
existing utility pole measured at the base of the pole or the otherwise standard size used by

the pole owner.

5. All cables and wires shall be routed through conduits along the outside of the
pole. The outside conduit shall be colored or painted to match the pole. The number of
conduits shall be minimized to the number technically necessary to accommodate the small

wireless facility.

6. Antennas, equipment enclosures, and all ancillary equipment, boxes and
conduit shall be colored or painted to match the approximate color of the surface of the
wooden pole on which they are attached.

7. Antennas shall not be mounted more than 12 inches from the surface of the
wooden pole.

8. Antennas should be placed in an effort to minimize visual clutter and
obtrusiveness. Multiple antennas are permitted on a wooden pole; provided, that each
antenna shall not be more than three cubic feet in volume.

9. A canister antenna may be mounted on top of an existing or replacement
wooden pole, which may not exceed the height requirements described in TMC Section
158.58.170.D.1. A canister antenna mounted on the top of a wooden pole shall not exceed
16 inches in diameter, measured at the top of the pole and, to the extent technically
feasible, shall be colored or painted to match the pole. The canister antenna must be
placed to look as if it is an extension of the pole. In the alternative, the applicant may install
a side-mounted canister antenna, so long as the inside edge of the antenna is no more
than 12 inches from the surface of the wooden pole. All cables shall be concealed either
within the canister antenna or within a sleeve between the antenna and the wooden pole.

10. The farthest point of any antenna or equipment enclosure may not extend
more than 28 inches from the face of the pole.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 42 of 47

82



11. An omnidirectional antenna may be mounted on the top of an existing wooden
pole, provided such antenna is no more than four feet in height and is mounted directly on
the top of a pole or attached to a sleeve made to look like the exterior of the pole as close
to the top of the pole as technically feasible. All cables shall be concealed within the sleeve
between the bottom of the antenna and the mounting bracket.

12. All related antenna equipment, including but not limited to ancillary equipment,
radios, cables, associated shrouding, microwaves, and conduit which are mounted on
wooden poles, shall not be mounted more than six inches from the surface of the pole,
unless a further distance is technically required and is confirmed in writing by the pole
owner.

13. Equipment for small wireless facilities must be attached to the wooden pole,
unless otherwise permitted to be ground mounted pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.A.3.
The equipment must be placed in the smallest enclosure possible for the intended
purpose. The equipment enclosure and all other wireless equipment associated with the
utility pole, including wireless equipment associated with the antenna, and any preexisting
associated equipment on the pole, may not exceed 28 cubic feet. Multiple equipment
enclosures may be acceptable if designed to more closely integrate with the pole design
and do not cumulatively exceed 28 cubic feet. The applicant is encouraged to place the
equipment enclosure(s) behind any banners or road signs that may be on the pole;
provided, that such location does not interfere with the operation of the banners or signs, or
the small wireless facility.

14. An applicant who desires to enclose both its antennas and equipment within
one unified enclosure may do so; provided, that such enclosure is the minimum size
necessary for its intended purpose and the enclosure and all other wireless equipment
associated with the pole, including wireless equipment associated with the antenna and any
preexisting associated equipment on the pole, do not exceed 28 cubic feet. The unified
enclosure may not be placed more than six inches from the surface of the pole, unless a
further distance is required and confirmed in writing by the pole owner. To the extent
possible, the unified enclosure shall be placed so as to appear as an integrated part of the
pole or behind banners or signs; provided, that such location does not interfere with the
operation of the banners or signs.

E. Standards for small wireless facilities on new poles in the rights-of-way and
installations on decorative poles. In addition to complying with the applicable general
standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B, small wireless
facilities proposed to be attached to new poles or decorative poles shall comply with
following:

1. Applicability. New poles within the rights-of-way or installations on a decorative
pole are only permitted if the applicant can establish that:

a. The proposed small wireless facility cannot be located on an existing utility
pole, electrical transmission tower, or on a site outside of the public rights-of-way such as a

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 43 of 47

83



public park, public property, building, transmission tower or in or on a nonresidential use in
a residential zone, whether by roof or panel mount or separate structure; and

b. The proposed small wireless facility receives approval for a stealth
technique design, as described in TMC Section 18.58.160.E.3; and

c. _The proposed small wireless facility also complies with the Shoreline
Management Act, Growth Management Act, and State Environmental Policy Act, if

applicable; and
d. No new poles shall be located in a critical area or associated buffer

required by the City’s Environmentally Sensitive Areas ordinance, TMC Chapter 18.45,
except when determined to be exempt pursuant to said ordinance.

2. Review. An application for a new pole or installation on a decorative pole is
subject to administrative review and approval or denial by the Director.

3. New poles. All new poles shall conform to the City’s standard pole desrqn

adopted in the Crtvs Infrastructure Desrqn and Constructlon Standards.

viee| If
the City’s standard pole desrqn is technlcallv mfeasrble the new pole shaII complv with the

~ | Commented [EFM23]: AT&T - proposed revision that

City accepted.

stealth technigue design consistent with TMC 18.58.160(E)(5) below.

4. Decorative poles. If the applicant desires to place the small wireless facility on
a decorative pole, and the city has adopted a small wireless facility standard for the
decorative pole in the City’s Infrastructure Design and Construction Standards, then the
applicant shall attempt to utilize the adopted decorative pole design. The applicant, upon a
showing that using the standard decorative pole design is either technically or physically
infeasible, or that a modified pole design will not comply with the city’s ADA or sidewalk
clearance requirements and/or would violate electrical or other safety standards, may
deviate from the adopted standard decorative pole design and propose a stealth technique
design consistent with TMC 18.58.160(E)(5) below.

5. The stealth technique design shall include the design of the screening,
fencing, or other concealment technique for the pole, equipment enclosure, and all related
transmission equipment or facilities associated with the proposed small wireless facility,
including but not limited to fiber and power connections.

b. The stealth technique design should seek to minimize the visual
obtrusiveness of the small wireless facility. The proposed pole or structure should have
similar designs to existing neighboring poles in the rights-of-way, including similar height to
the extent technically feasible. If the proposed small wireless facility is placed on a
replacement pole in a design district, then the replacement pole shall be of the same
general design as the pole it is replacing, unless the Director otherwise approves a
variation due to aesthetic or safety concerns. Any stealth technique design for a small
wireless facility on a decorative pole should attempt to mimic the design of such pole and
integrate the small wireless facility into the design of the decorative pole. Other stealth

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 44 of 47

84



techniqgue methods include, but are not limited to, integrating the installation with
architectural features or building design components; utilization of coverings or
concealment devices of similar material, color, and texture—or the appearance thereof—as
the surface against which the installation will be seen or on which it will be installed;
landscape design; or other camouflage strategies appropriate for the type of installation.
Applicants are required to utilize designs in which all conduit and wires are installed
internally within the structure. Further, applicant designs should, to the extent technically
feasible, comply with the generally applicable design standards adopted pursuant to TMC
Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B.

c. Ifthe Director has already approved a stealth technique design either for
the applicant or another small wireless facility along the same public right-of-way or for the
same pole type, then the applicant shall utilize a substantially similar stealth technigue
design, unless it can show that such stealth technique design is not technically feasible, or
that such design would undermine the generally applicable design standards adopted
pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B.

d. Even if an alternative location is established pursuant to TMC Section

18.58.160.E.1.a, the Director may determine,, at the applicant’s written request, thatanew | commented [24]: Verizon - proposed suggestion that this
pole in the right-of-way is in fact a superior alternative based on the impact to the City, the bedat the aplr(’zcal_it’s written requedst to allow for feasibility
stealth technigue design, the City’'s Comprehensive Plan and the added benefits to the and network design. City accepted revision.

community.

e. Prior to the issuance of a permit to construct a new pole or ground-
mounted equipment in the right-of-way, the applicant must obtain a master lease
agreement from the City to locate such new pole or ground-mounted equipment. This
requirement also applies to replacement poles that are taller than the replaced pole, when
the overall height of the replacement pole and the proposed small wireless facility is more
than 60 feet.

F. Standards for small wireless facilities attached to cables. In addition to
complying with the applicable general standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A, all small
wireless facilities mounted on existing cables strung between existing utility poles shall
conform to the following standards:

1. Each strand-mounted facility shall not exceed three cubic feet in volume;

2. Only one strand-mounted facility is permitted per cable between any two
existing poles on an existing cable;

3. The strand-mounted devices shall be placed as close as feasible to the

nearest utility pole, in no event more than ften (10) five{5)feet from the pole unless that | commented [EFM25]: Crown Castle proposed revision
location is technically infeasible or is not allowed by the pole owner for safety clearance; that City accepted.

4. No strand-mounted device shall be located in or above the portion of the
roadway open to vehicular traffic;

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 45 of 47

85



5. Ground-mounted equipment to accommodate a shared mounted facility is not
permitted except when placed in preexisting equipment cabinets or required by a third
partythird-party electrical service provider; and

6. Pole-mounted equipment shall comply with the requirements of TMC Section
18.58.160.A and TMC Section 18.58.160.B.

7. Such strand-mounted devices must be installed to cause the least visual
impact and without excess exterior cabling or wires (other than the original strand).

G. Standards for small wireless facilities attached to existing buildings. In
addition to complying with the applicable general standards in TMC Section 18.58.160.A, all
small wireless facilities attached to existing buildings shall conform to the following design
criteria:

1.  Small wireless facilities may be mounted to the sides of a building if the
antennas do not interrupt the building’s architectural theme.

2. The interruption of architectural lines or horizontal or vertical reveals is
discouraged.

3. New architectural features such as columns, pilasters, corbels, or other
ornamentation that conceal antennas may be used if it complements the architecture of the
existing building.

4. Small wireless facilities shall utilize the smallest mounting brackets necessary
in order to provide the smallest offset from the building.

5. Skirts or shrouds shall be utilized on the sides and bottoms of antennas in
order to conceal mounting hardware, create a cleaner appearance, and minimize the visual
impact of the antennas. Exposed cabling/wiring is prohibited.

6. To the extent technically feasible, small wireless facilities shall be painted and
textured to match the adjacent building surfaces.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 46 of 47

86



Chapter 18.06
Definitions

The following definitions are proposed to be deleted from TMC 18.06 and replaced as
applicable with new definitions in TMC 18.58.040

18.06.039 — Ancillary Wireless Communication Facilities
18.06.040 — Ancillary Wireless Communication Facility

18.06.041 — Antenna(s)

18.06.042 — Antenna(s) Array

18.06.043 — Antennas(s), Flush Mounted

18.06.773 — Significant Gap in Service, Wireless Communications
18.06.823 — Tower, Electrical Transmission

18.06.824 — Tower, Guy

18.06.825 — Tower, Lattice

18.06.826 — Tower, Monopole

18.06.827 — Tower, Wireless Communication Facility

18.06.828 — Tower-Mounted Facilities

18.06.902 — Utility pole.

City of Tukwila
Wireless Code Update

Page 47 of 47

87



88



Page No. of

Ordinance
Adopting Small
p' & Code Section Industry Comment City Response
Wireless
Design
Standards
CITY - this is simply a goal that the City aspires to, it
does not require collocation and if collocation was
2 18.58.020(A)(6) Extent - comment: concerns on interference required via a different code section, and the carrier
could show that there was an interference issue,
collocation would not be required.
2 18.58.020(A)(8) AT&T - proposes revisions, see comment in draft CITY - Agreed with proposed revision
. . . . . . . CITY - Reject, they should still be required to apply for
Crown Castle - consider revising to exemption section to exempt decreases in height or size of antenna from . . . )
4 18.58.030(A)(1) . i an eligible facilities request permit so the city can
the provisions of this chapter o .
determine if they meet the EFR requirements
CITY - Agreed with comment but suggest the following
Crown Castle - proposed revision: revision instead: "Any wireless communications
5 18.58.030(A)(10) Any wireless communications facility that is owned and operated by a government entity for non-commercial [facility that is owned and operated by a government
purposes. entity, for public safety radio systems, ham radio and
business radio systems."
VERIZON - See question in draft. CITY - Regarding Verizon's comment: Staff
recommended removing the agreement provision
Extent - See comment in draft. because it restricted use of the 3rd party review.
10 18.58.050(E)

Crown Castle - proposed revision: The reasonable costs actually incurred by the City for such-efthe technical

review shall be borne by the applicant, provided that the City provides to the applicant an itemized accounting

of the costs actually charged by said third party reviewer and incurred by the City.

CITY - Regarding Crown Castle's comment: Agreed
with proposed revision, which also addresses Extent's
concern.

{EFM2458243.XLSX;1/13175.000001/ }

ATTACHMENT C

89



wynetta
Text Box
ATTACHMENT C


Industry - recommend striking this section because it will be governed by the relevant standard of review

10 18.58.050(F CITY - Agreed with proposed revision
(F) under LUPA, federal law or other means of review of City action. g prop !
CITY - Agreed with adding "court of competent
10 18.58.050(G) Crown Castle - proposes striking "King County" Superior Court and leaving it as "court of competent jurisdiction. |, . . g \ _I & .\ P
jurisdiction but left "King County
. VERIZON & AT&T - would like to add "was not available" to section as the inability to lease is a common reason .
15 18.58.060(B)(2)(i) . CITY - PC to discuss
for not collocating
17 18.58.060(E) AT&T - Consider revising section to allow permittee to apply for building permit within 1 year of the final Amended to match CUP process
AT&T - proposed revision:
17 18.58.060(F)(3 CITY - Agree with proposed revision
(F)(3) "Collocated on existing buildings and structures in residential zones not used for single family residential uses & prop I
(e.g. religious facility, or public facility, or multifamily building).
18 18.58.060(G)(2) VERIZON - See comment in draft. CITY - Staff struck this requirement as being
o AT&T - consider adding "to the extent technically feasible" to the end of the section. redundant in light of subsection 3.
VERIZON & AT&T - if locating on a building, the macro facility may exceed the height requirements of the . .
. . L . . , . o CITY — Recommend accepting because it encourages
18 18.58.060(G)(4) underlying zoning category by 10 feet. Reasoning is that an additional 10 feet is consistent with City's collocation
preferences for collocation on buildings '
AT&T - proposes permitting up to 15 feet taller, unless additional height increase is required for vertical . .
) o o . . . L . . CITY — Recommend accepting because this is standard
14 18.58.060(G)(5) separation and it is the minimum extension possible to provide sufficient separation from electrical and s
o e for macro facilities.
wireline facilities
19 18.58.060(G)(7) AT&T - wants to permit ground-based equipment above ground with the following proposed revision: CITY - Recommend rejecting, stated goal is to
o "Ground-based equipment facilities shall be-placed-underground-ifapplicableerifabeve-ground,shall:" minimum ground clutter.
20 18.58.060(G)(11) VERIZON - consider striking this section because it is contrary to the stated goal of collocation is also a very CITY = PC to discuss
vague standard.
20-21 18.58.070 VERIZON and AT&T suggest reorganizing this section for clarity because not all factors originally listed are CITY - Agreed with proposed revision
relevant for each proposed tower.
30 18.58.090(B)(7) VERIZON - suggested revision to comply with FCC CITY - Agreed with proposed revision

(EFM2458243 XIS /13175.000001/ }




Crown Castle - proposed revision: To toll the time frame for incompleteness, the city shall provide written
notice to the applicant within 30 days of receipt of the application, clearly and specifically delineating all
missing documents or information required in the application and including a citation to the publicly-stated

31 18.58.090(F)(1 CITY - Agreed with proposed revision
(F1) code provision requiring such information. The City recognizes that such a notice is limited to information & prop
“reasonably related” to determining whether the application meets the “eligible facilities request”
requirements.
Crown Castle - proposed revision: In the event the city fails to approve or deny an eligible facilities request
within the time frame for review (accounting for any tolling), the request shall be deemed granted. The deemed
grant does not become effective until the applicant notifies the city in writing after the review period has . .
32 18.58.090(H) . . . . . CITY - Reject revision.
expired (accounting for any tolling) that the application has been deemed granted. An applicant shall have the
right to construct an eligible facilities request that is deemed granted pursuant to this section and no citations
may be issued by the City for such construction.
AT&T - consider only requiring a photometric analysis if the replacement light pole is in a different location.
34 18.58.110(A)(4) CITY - Agreed with proposed revision
Crown Castle - consider only requiring a photometric analysis if a new pole.
Crown Castle - written approval should take the form of a conditional approval (i.e. pole owner approves if cit
34 18.58.100(B) PP PP (ie.p PP y CITY - Agreed with proposed revision
also approved)
Crown Castle - proposed revision:
35 18.58.100€ CITY - Agreed with proposed revision
if such approvals are required.
AT&T - proposed revision:
"Except when a pole owner exempt from the International Building Code completes its own structural analysis, . . ,
) . i ) . . ) CITY - Rejected revision because a structural, licensed
a professional engineer licensed by the State of Washington shall certify in writing, over his or her seal, that . : L .
35 18.58.110(F) . . o . . engineer's review is required to ensure structural
construction plans of the small wireless facilities and structure or pole and foundation are designed to ntearit
reasonably withstand wind and seismic loads as required by applicable codes." Reason is that PSE typically grity:
provides a letter addressing the IBC exemption
Crown Castle - proposes revision:
35 18.58.120 City - Accepted proposed revision.

vertical clearnce shall be reviewed by the Director, in accordance with NESC or applicable pole safety codes..."

{EFM2458243.XLSX;1/13175.000001/ }

91




CITY - Reject. SWF's are allowed to be expanded
pursuant EFRs so long as it doesn't exceed the
definition of SWF because otherwise it becomes a

36 18.58.1200(3) Crown Castle - proposes striking "does not exceed the conditions of a small wireless facility." o . )
macro facility and those have different requirements
(i.e. they may not be allowed in the ROW where SWF
are allowed.)
36 18.58.120(D) VERIZON - consider onIy.r?otifying directly adjacent property owners rather than all property owners within 100 CITY - Reject. 100 feet is standard.
feet of the proposed facility
C Castle - t ising to 120d
36 18.58.120(F) rown f-astie - suggests revising to 224 days CITY - Staff accepted 90 days.
AT&T - suggests revising to 90 days
37 18.58.130(E) VERIZON - allow unlimited extensions if needed because scheduling fiber and power is outside the control of CITY - Staff recommends allowing two extensions.
the applicant.
AT&T - proposed revision: CITY - this would broaden where SWF can go by
38 18.58.160(A)(1) "...small wireless facilities are prohibited on any property containing a single family residential use in a allowing them on non residential uses in a residential
residential zone" zone.
AT&T - consider allowing electrical meters on the ground in the ROW because PSE intends to require meters for
38 18.58.160(A)(3) some SWF and they can't be allowed on the pole or underground. Further, City's preliminary 5G pole standard |CITY - Accepted suggestion.
allowed ground-mounted meters.
CITY - Staff accepted the 10 feet so long as
39 18.58.160(B)(5) AT&T - consider allowing replacement poles to be within 10 feet rather than 5 feet of existing pole compliance with the construction standards manual is
required.
AT&T - proposes deleting this section because it is covered by the franchise . L
CITY - recommend keeping because the pole's primary
39 18.58.160(B)(7) . . . .
. . i ) ) o function should govern its utility to the City.
Crown Castle proposes deleting this section because SWF in the ROW are no less important than other utilities
CITY - this space is the closest to the pole while still
40 18.58.1600(3) Crown Castle - concern that the restriction of 28 inches from the face of the pole is arbitrary and capricious ) P . P . !
allowing access to maintain the antenna if needed
40 18.58.1600(5) Crown Castle - proposes increase the diameter of the permitted antenna to 20 inches rather than 16. CITY - Reject revision because 16 is standard.

(EFM2458243 X1SKA /13175.000001/ }




Verizon -proposes to strike this section as follows: "The proposed small wireless facility cannot be located on an
existing utility pole or, electrical transmission tower;

7

CITY - reject revision, an alternatives analysis does not

43 18.58.160(E)(1)(a) [|whetherbyrooforpanelmountorseparatestructure” materially prohibit the carrier's ability to provide
service.
Extent - also proposes to strike this section: they request not requiring use of private property before being
allowed to install a new pole in the ROW.
AT&T - triking the following: {-no-existing-metered-service-isavailable, the applicant shallprovide- .
44 18.58.160(E)(3) Proposes s r! ng e. ollowing CITY - Staff accepted proposed revision.
Rev-raetered-clegirielcanice—
VERIZON - proposed revision:
45 18.58.160(E)(5)(d) "Even if an alternative location is established pursuant to TMC Section 18.58.160.E.1.a, at the request of the CITY - Staff accepted the proposed revision.
Applicant, the Director may determine that a new pole in the right-of-way is in fact a superior alternative"
CITY - any time any equipment or poles are located in
45 18.58.160(E)(5)(e) |Crown Castle - questions why a lease is required if a new or replacement pole is located in the ROW the ROW or on City property, City requires executing a
lease to govern the access to that specific site.
45 18.58.160(F)(3) Crown Castle - proposes allowing the strand-mounted SWF to be ten feet rather than five feet from the pole. CITY - Staff accepted proposed revision.

{EFM2458243.XLSX;1/13175.000001/ }

93




